

Report of the Fourteenth Meeting of the Programme Coordinating Board of UNAIDS Geneva, 26–27 June 2003

Contents

1.	Opening2)
1.1	Opening of the meeting and adoption of the provisional agenda	2
1.2 1.3	Election of officers	
1.4	Report of the Executive Director, 2002–2003.	3
1.5	Report by the Chairperson of the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations6	5
1.6	Report by the NGO Representative	7
2.	UNAIDS Unified Budget and Workplan 2004–2005	3
3.	Financial and budgetary updates, 1 January 2002–31 March 200311	Ĺ
4.	Report from the PCB Working Group on UNAIDS Governance)
5.	Progress reports	Ļ
5.1	Memorandum of Understanding between UNAIDS and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria	
5.2	UN System Strategic Plan on HIV/AIDS (2001–2005)	5
6.	Next PCB meeting	7
7.	Any other business	7
8.	Adoption of decisions, recommendations and conclusions	3
Ann	ex 1 – Agenda)

1: Opening

1.1. Opening of the meeting and adoption of the provisional agenda

- 1. The fourteenth meeting of the UNAIDS Programme Coordinating Board (PCB) took place at the headquarters of the International Labour Organization (ILO), Geneva, Switzerland, on 26–27 June 2003. The participants are listed in Annex 3.
- 2. On behalf of Portugal, outgoing Chair of the PCB, Professor M. Fernando Aires Alves Nunes Ventura (Coordinator, National Commission against HIV/AIDS, Portugal) opened the fourteenth meeting of the PCB and welcomed all those attending. Professor Ventura noted that, despite the different approaches and advances in the fight against HIV/AIDS and the qualitative change under the excellent leadership of UNAIDS since 1995, the epidemic continues to expand all over the world, including in Portugal. Thus, the honour of chairing the UNAIDS PCB included not only the opportunity to work in collaboration with UNAIDS, but also to work together in the fight against AIDS in Portugal. Professor Ventura cited the privilege of Portugal and its President in taking part in UNGASS, which took place in June 2001 and resulted in the Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS, and the subsequent creation of the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria. In December 2002, Portugal had the honour of chairing the fourth ad hoc thematic PCB meeting in Portugal where the Five-year Evaluation of UNAIDS was concluded. This represented a new step forward in the history of UNAIDS and an important contribution to the ongoing process of UN reform. In the Lisbon meeting, five cross-cutting functions were endorsed for application at all levels of the Programme, and a clear priority for action at country level was established. Moreover, a review process on UNAIDS governance was launched. Professor Ventura reiterated Portugal's commitment to continue and intensify its collaboration with UNAIDS and other partners in the fight against AIDS. He thanked Dr Piot and his team for all their support and, with great pleasure, wished success to the new Chair of the PCB.
- 3. The provisional agenda (UNAIDS/PCB/ (13)/03.1) was adopted. (See Annex 1.)

1.2 Election of officers

- 4. In accordance with agreed procedures, Zambia, the previous Vice-Chair, was elected the new Chair of the PCB. Canada was elected Vice-Chair, and the Netherlands was elected Rapporteur. The PCB also approved and welcomed the new NGO delegates of the PCB as of 1 January 2004 to December 2005: Journalists against AIDS (Nigeria) representing Africa; AIDS Infoshare (Russia) representing Europe, with the International Community of Women Living with HIV/AIDS (ICW) (United Kingdom) acting as alternate; and Africa Services Committee (USA) representing North America, with the Health Global Access Project (Health Gap) (USA) acting as alternate.
- 5. The Hon. Brig. Gen. Brian Chituwo (Minister of Health of the Republic of Zambia) expressed his appreciation for the election of Zambia as Chair of the PCB. For Dr Chituwo, the election represented an honour for the people of Zambia and its government. He noted that Zambia is a country at the epicentre of the HIV/AIDS epidemic. Though Zambia is doing everything it possibly can in the fight against HIV/AIDS, it recognizes that it will not be able to win the fight on its own. In this regard, Dr Chituwo looked forward to the support of the PCB, the UNAIDS Secretariat, and its Cosponsors.

1.3 Consideration of the reports of the twelfth and thirteenth meetings

6. The PCB considered and approved the report of the twelfth meeting (UNAIDS/PCB (12)/02.06) of the PCB. The PCB considered and approved the report of the thirteenth meeting (UNAIDS/PCB

(13)/02.06) of the PCB, with an amendment to reflect the names of the projects visited during field trips of PCB participants.

1.4 Report of the Executive Director, 2002–2003

- 7. Dr Peter Piot (Executive Director, UNAIDS) introduced his report for 2002–2003 (UNAIDS/PCB (14)/03.2). The report updated the PCB on the status of the epidemic, summarized key developments in advancing the global and UN system response to the epidemic, identified the challenges ahead and the overall direction of the Programme, and reflected the five cross-cutting functions of the Programme. The report also described UNAIDS' support to increased national leadership against HIV/AIDS, including community, faith and mass volunteer organizations and businesses, and to organizations of people living with HIV/AIDS. In addition, since the beginning of 2002, UNAIDS has increased its capacity to support monitoring and evaluation, has streamlined the development of indicators, and has improved sources of information. UNAIDS has provided new technical and policy guidance and has mobilized additional financial, political and technical resources.
- 8. Referring to the present state of the epidemic, Dr Piot described six challenges that he also characterized as opportunities. These are to: (a) address simultaneously the acute emergency and the long-term threat to development that the epidemic represents; (b) contain emerging epidemics while there is still an opportunity to do so; (c) confront socioeconomic breakdown through new strategies and the development of future scenarios for Africa; (d) be able to utilize, coordinate, monitor and evaluate the dramatic, but still insufficient, increase in resources; (e) create the operational capacity to make treatment access a reality; and (f) counter the increased feminization of the epidemic through a women's initiative that draws on the strength of women and empowers them to fight HIV/AIDS.
- 9. Dr Piot cited the Declaration of Commitment and its targets, many to be achieved by 2005, as the roadmap for action in the fight against the epidemic. In this context, UNAIDS would continue to act as a world reference for the response, and conduct leadership and advocacy campaigns, strengthen its country presence, and ensure the availability of quality technical resource facilities, as well as a strong and committed UN system.
- 10. Dr Piot reported that the Secretariat and Cosponsors have refocused their efforts according to the directions given by the PCB at its meeting in Lisbon. Some of the results of these efforts include a review of country mechanisms, meetings of the Regional Directors of the Programmes Cosponsors in three continents, intensified analysis and mobilization of resources, and the conclusion of a Memorandum of Understanding with the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria.
- 11. Dr Piot closed by appealing to PCB members to support the Unified Budget and Workplan (UBW). He stressed that the UBW represents the prime instrument through which UNAIDS can achieve its goals to catalyse leadership, to tackle the hard issues, to build consensus and to forge ahead in support of the actions being taken by governments, communities, and individuals in their fight against HIV/AIDS.
- 12. The PCB congratulated Zambia on its election as Chair of the UNAIDS PCB and expressed its appreciation for the hard work of UNAIDS and the progress made in the last year. It thanked the UNAIDS Executive Director for his very clear and informative report. The PCB endorsed the report and concurred with the challenges that the Executive Director described. The PCB requested that future reports be more output-oriented and more focused on the contributions of UNAIDS at different levels. It also urged that the report more fully reflect developments at country level, including the nature of the coordinated response of UNAIDS at country level.

- 13. The PCB welcomed signs of progress in the fight against HIV/AIDS, but noted with concern that the epidemic continues to expand. The PCB expressed its appreciation for UNAIDS' increased focus on national responses, reiterating that a primary role of the UN is to facilitate effective national responses. It called upon UNAIDS to continue its efforts to improve such responses, in particular by supporting national capacity to plan, oversee and coordinate AIDS interventions, while holding countries accountable for their actions. It urged the UN system to provide assistance to the countries that are most in need, i.e. the least developed countries, with a strong emphasis on Africa. It also asked for strong leadership from UNAIDS with regard to newly emerging epidemics, such as those in Asia, and stressed increased support to countries where the epidemic is on the increase.
- 14. Reiterating that the principle of ownership should guide an expanded response at country level, the PCB was pleased to note the increased focus on national ownership and leadership in the fight against HIV/AIDS. The PCB confirmed that raising political awareness and supporting a broad-based response remain key objectives for UNAIDS, particularly since HIV/AIDS is still considered only a health problem in many places. The PCB urged UNAIDS to step up its efforts to support regional and national leadership, with one PCB member expressing its support for a "leadership track" at the fifteenth International AIDS Conference in Bangkok. The PCB was pleased to note the continued support of UNAIDS in mobilizing civil society as a partner in national responses. It reiterated that the increased activism and strength of civil society, including those of NGOs, are vital to a successful response.
- 15. The PCB expressed its appreciation for the important role that UNAIDS continues to play in improving coordination and coherence among stakeholders at all levels, but pointed out that further work is needed to develop effective coordination and cooperation, particularly at country level. In this regard, the PCB cited the continuing complexity of the rules, procedures and operations of multilateral and bilateral partners in their interaction with countries. It urged the international community to harmonize and simplify such procedures with a view to achieving greater correspondence with national priorities and planning systems. With regard to coordination through the cosponsored programme, one PCB member recommended that Cosponsors develop plans along with national programme managers, providing information on their activities and budgets, in a single document if possible.
- 16. The PCB urged UNAIDS to continue to support large-scale HIV-prevention efforts. With regard to newly emerging epidemics, e.g. in Central and Eastern Europe, increasing prevention efforts should be further supported by knowledge hubs and intercountry programmes. In 'low and slow' epidemics, the challenges are to sustain prevention efforts, strengthen multisectoral involvement, and mobilize local responses. The PCB reconfirmed the importance of prevention for young people through information dissemination, peer education and life-skills education efforts. The PCB remained concerned by the continuing spread of HIV through injecting drug use and urged UNAIDS to focus stronger attention, where needed, to address this issue.
- 17. The PCB reconfirmed that the integration of HIV/AIDS into mainstream development activities is essential for a truly multisectoral and sustainable response, but it noted with concern that such integration remains uneven. In this regard, it called on stakeholders to harmonize poverty reduction strategies, sector-wide approaches (SWAPs) and the national AIDS strategy to the fullest extent possible into a united front against the epidemic. The PCB welcomed UNAIDS assistance in mainstreaming HIV/AIDS into the New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD), as well as its assistance to the African Centre of HIV/AIDS Management. The PCB welcomed the Cosponsors' enhanced focus on supporting countries' efforts to achieve measurable goals within the framework of

the Millennium Declaration and the targets and indicators elaborated therein, particularly for Goal 6 (combat HIV/AIDS, malaria, and other diseases). The PCB requested additional information on the role played by UNAIDS in global efforts to achieve the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), such as through the Millennium Development Project.

- 18. The PCB reconfirmed UNAIDS' critical role in financial and technical resource mobilization and welcomed the fact that greater levels of resources have been mobilized. It noted with concern, however, that the international community is still falling far short of meeting the needs, and called on all stakeholders to contribute. The PCB expressed its appreciation for the support that UNAIDS has provided to countries in accessing resources from various sources, such as the World Bank's Multi-Country HIV/AIDS Programme (MAP), the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, and other multilateral and bilateral channels. It welcomed the fact that all Cosponsors had increased their own core resources spent on HIV/AIDS, including at country level, and called on the Cosponsors to provide further information in the UBW regarding these resources. It stressed that partnership among donors, including financial burden sharing, will be crucial for the future of UNAIDS.
- 19. With regard to technical resource mobilization, the PCB recognized that human capacity is already overstretched where the epidemic has hit the hardest. It called on stakeholders to build capacity hand in hand with increases in financial resources and to pool country- and regional level expertise to provide more effective and efficient technical support. The PCB recognized the importance and successes of regional technical cooperation groups, such as those in Latin America and the CIS. It also stressed the need to strengthen UNAIDS intercountry teams in support of horizontal technical resource exchange and other regional initiatives. One PCB member sought more information about the plan to build up a database of professionally skilled consultants who are also people living with HIV/AIDS. The PCB welcomed the development of technical guidance documents by UNAIDS. One PCB member urged that there be greater efforts to disseminate these in a broad range of languages, with due attention to Arabic and Chinese. The member also called for the continued development of guidance regarding how to mainstream HIV/AIDS into various sectors.
- 20. The PCB welcomed the efforts of UNAIDS to strengthen its capacity and effectiveness in the area of monitoring and evaluation. It expressed its appreciation for initiatives in this regard, such as the Country Response Information System (CRIS), the Global HIV/AIDS Monitoring and Evaluation Support Team (GAMET) at the World Bank, and the strengthened Monitoring and Evaluation Unit in the UNAIDS Secretariat. The PCB congratulated UNAIDS on the development of indicators, which it felt would greatly improve analysis and assessment of the response, including in low-prevalence countries where it is difficult to monitor trends. One PCB member urged that indicators be reviewed in terms of the involvement of civil society and the protection of human rights, including the promotion of equality between men and women and the reduction of the vulnerability of women to HIV/AIDS. The member suggested that opportunities be created for representatives of civil society, women and people living with HIV/AIDS to be able to provide input with a view to improving these indicators. Another PCB member cited the positive experience in Latin America where NGOs and civil society are participating in the development of a strategic plan to coordinate monitoring and evaluation efforts.
- 21. The PCB recognized the burden on countries created by the existence of myriad different monitoring and evaluation requirements. It called on donors and the international community to lessen that burden and to harmonize monitoring and evaluation demands. It also called on UNAIDS to further harmonize approaches in monitoring and evaluation, such as those occurring under the MDGs and the Declaration of Commitment. It urged UNAIDS to assist countries in building their national capacity for monitoring and evaluation and to ensure that this capacity informs National AIDS Programmes and national governance institutions.

- 22. The PCB noted with concern the feminization of the epidemic, with women now comprising 50% of the global AIDS epidemic and, in Africa, 58% of the people living with HIV/AIDS. The PCB reconfirmed that gender equality is crucial if the epidemic is to be curbed. The PCB welcomed UNAIDS' Global Coalition on Women and AIDS, with its focus on the prevention of HIV infection among girls and young women, the reduction of violence against women, the protection of the property and inheritance rights of women and girls, equal access of woman and girls to care and treatment, improved community-based care for women and girls, the promotion of access to new prevention options for women, and support for ongoing efforts towards universal education for girls. The PCB called on countries to: (a) make greater efforts to provide women and girls with access to sexual and reproductive health services and to HIV-prevention programmes, (b) to implement national polices and programmes targeting the vulnerability of women to HIV; (c) disaggregate gender data on epidemic trends and impact; and (d) protect the human rights of women and girls. It also urged that bilateral programmes focus on the causes of women's vulnerability and that greater attention be given to the development of women-controlled methods of HIV prevention.
- 23. The PCB noted that stigma, denial and discrimination continue to hinder progress against HIV/AIDS and called on UNAIDS to re-energize the fight against stigma and discrimination. Recognizing that, during conflict and war, the epidemic is fuelled by the destruction of education and health systems and the displacement of people, the PCB urged UNAIDS to continue working closely with humanitarian agencies to integrate HIV/AIDS into their response to crises and to ensure that HIV-prevention-and-care programmes are extended to refugees and displaced people.
- 24. The PCB was pleased to note the focus given to treatment and care issues in the report of the Executive Director. However, it noted with concern the continuing disparities in access to treatment and care across the globe and the extremely low levels of those in need receiving antiretrovirals. In this regard, the PCB welcomed the greater inclusion of antiretrovirals as part of the continuum of care. The PCB urged that more attention be given to: (a) increasing the access of poor people to a broad range of treatment and care services; (b) improving equity of access, including access to ARVs; and (c) assisting governments in rolling out equitable and comprehensive services. The PCB urged that efforts to increase access be made through greater cooperation with the private sector and by the sharing of successful experiences among countries. Attention should also be paid to middle-income countries that experience obstacles to increasing access. One PCB member suggested that the PCB initiate innovative pilot projects to provide care and support at the regional level.
- 25. The PCB welcomed the statement by Mr Koichiro Matsuura (Director-General, UNESCO) under Agenda Item 1.4. Mr Matsuura expressed his appreciation for the opportunity to meet with the PCB, to chart together the future work of UNAIDS, and to underline the commitment of UNESCO to a common purpose. He described UNESCO's efforts with regard to preventive education, which he has proposed as the thematic focus during the 12 months in which UNESCO will serve as Chair of the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations (CCO). He also provided information on two meetings planned for the CCO: one to be held in New York on 30 October 2003 (to which the UN Secretary-General has been invited), and the other to be held in sub-Saharan Africa in early March 2004.
- 26. The PCB took note of the Report of the Executive Director (UNAIDS).

1.5 Report by the Chairperson of the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations

27. Dr Mamphela Ramphele (Managing Director, World Bank), representing the World Bank as Chair of the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations (CCO), presented the Report by the Chairperson of

the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations. Dr Ramphele described the accomplishments of the past year, the challenges ahead, and the ways in which the UN system is attempting to strengthen the global response. She noted that, in the last year, the profile of HIV/AIDS has significantly grown within individual Cosponsor agencies. Coordination has improved, largely due to the maturation of the 'convening agency' mechanism in different thematic areas. UNAIDS has continued to provide intellectual and policy leadership. Indicators to monitor progress regarding the Declaration of Commitment have been embraced, with over 100 countries providing comprehensive information to UNAIDS in 2003 on national responses. New resources have been mobilized, and the programme has significantly increased its capacity to track HIV/AIDS-related resource flows. Finally, Cosponsors have capitalized on their individual comparative advantages to make more effective contributions in the fight against HIV/AIDS.

- 28. Dr Ramphele also stressed, however, that the challenges continue to grow. The impact of the epidemic has grown more acute in many places; prevention coverage for populations at high risk is well below 20%; and only 1 in 20 of those in need of HIV drugs in developing countries currently receives them. In light of these challenges and the constructive criticism provided in the Five-year Evaluation of UNAIDS, the Programme has reoriented itself so as to lead a more vigorous and effective response, particularly at country level. This can be seen in terms of better coordination; more support to countries through UN Theme Groups, UNAIDS country staff, and technical assistance; a greater focus on priority countries; and greater leadership in the mobilization of resources, reaching the targets of the Declaration of Commitment, scaling-up sectoral engagement, and monitoring and evaluation. Dr Ramphele closed by asking the PCB for its support for the Unified Budget and Workplan and its guidance towards realizing UNAIDS' full potential in the global response to HIV/AIDS.
- 29. The PCB thanked the Chair of the CCO for her extensive report on the work of the Cosponsors and for the high-level representation of the Cosponsors, including that of Executive Heads, at the PCB meeting. The PCB requested that Cosponsors report annually to the PCB on their work, focusing on country-level progress and challenges in meeting their objectives. One PCB member noted with gratification that assistance through the MAP takes the form of 100% grants to the poorest countries. Citing the fact that many countries are already overwhelmed by debt and by the impact of the epidemic, this PCB member urged that the PCB initiate dialogue to promote the conversion of MAP assistance into grants.
- 30. Ms Sheila Sisulu (Deputy Executive Director, World Food Programme) took the opportunity to describe the efforts of the World Food Programme (WFP) in relation to HIV/AIDS. Among other things, the WFP is: integrating HIV into all of its emergency, recovery and development programmes; strengthening its partnership with UNAIDS; adjusting its assessment tools in order to take into account HIV; and using HIV/AIDS as a basis for creating a recovery programme. It is also implementing an aggressive HIV-prevention programme in the WFP workplace, making sure that all staff involved in food distribution receive prevention education, adjusting its food rations to make them more nutritionally appropriate for people living with HIV/AIDS, and supporting research into the role of nutrition for people living with HIV/AIDS.
- 31. The PCB took note of the Report of the Chairperson of the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations.

1.6 Report by the NGO Representative

- 32. On behalf of the NGO delegation to the PCB, Ms Alice Lamptey (The Ghana HIV/AIDS Network) presented the Report of the NGO Representative. The NGO delegation first expressed its appreciation to the Executive Director of UNAIDS and his staff for the many ways in which they continue to facilitate the contributions of the NGO delegation to the PCB. Ms Lamptey then raised common global concerns derived from the NGO regional reports. In this context, the NGO delegation called upon governments to ensure that funds for debt relief, e.g. through the Highly Indebted Poor Countries (HIPC) initiative and other emergency funds, move more quickly to alleviate the worsening economic conditions of vulnerable populations, most of whom are women, rural and poor. It further urged countries to mobilize resources based more clearly on countries' capacity to contribute according to gross domestic product. It requested that UNAIDS support governments to reduce the still-prevalent stigma and marginalization due to HIV/AIDS—in particular, by intensifying the training of health workers and enacting codes of ethics to prevent discrimination. The NGO delegation noted that the window of opportunity for preventing serious HIV epidemics is closing, or is closed, in many countries, and efforts must be immediately scaled up to avert worse epidemics. Ms Lamptey highlighted the vulnerability of youth, particularly young girls, due to risky sexual behaviour, substance use, lack of access to information and prevention, and negative cultural and traditional practices. She also stated that HIV/AIDS is still considered to be a low social and political priority in the majority of countries.
- 33. Ms Lamptey also reported that the NGO delegation has reviewed the terms of reference of the NGO Liaison Committee in order to improve its legitimacy, increase its accountability and devolve greater ownership to the NGO community. The NGO delegation made a number of recommendations including: (a) increasing support to communities and special interest groups (children, orphans, youth, women, men having sex with men, injecting drug users, and sex workers) and urged that this be more explicitly reported on in the UBW; (b) promoting greater participation of civil society; (c) ensuring protection against stigma and discrimination; and (d) enhancing the ability of countries to better access global resources. It requested PCB approval for a number of action points in relation to the operational rules and procedures of the NGO Liaison Committee. It also asked that the PCB extend the mandate of the representative of Latin America and the Caribbean in order to facilitate the transition to a new delegate.
- 34. The PCB thanked the NGO delegation for its report. The PCB expressed its support for priority assistance to communities and vulnerable groups in budgeting and programme implementation and agreed that such assistance should be better reflected in the UBW. One PCB member supported the proposal of the NGO delegation to extend the mandate of the representative of Latin America and the Caribbean. The PCB recommended that the specific actions requested in the report be considered in the PCB Drafting Group, with recommendations to be forwarded to the PCB plenary.
- 35. The PCB took note of the Report of the NGO Representative.

2: UNAIDS Unified Budget and Workplan 2004–2005

36. Mr Gudmund Hernes (Director, International Institute for Educational Planning, UNESCO) introduced the UNAIDS Unified Budget and Workplan 2004–2005 (UNAIDS PCB (14)/03.3) with the assistance of Dr Kathleen Cravero (Deputy Executive Director, UNAIDS), Dr Suman Mehta (HIV/AIDS Coordinator, UNFPA), Mr Mark Stirling (Principal Officer, HIV/AIDS, UNICEF) and Dr Debrework Zewdie (Program Director, World Bank). The UBW was presented in four parts: an

overview, a description of thematic, regional consultations in order to develop and finalize the UBW, and monitoring and evaluation

- 37. In the overview, Dr Cravero described how the UBW brings together the Cosponsors and the Secretariat in a two-year joint plan that identifies the programme's priorities, as well as the contributions of the Cosponsors and the Secretariat towards specific objectives. In response to the decisions of the PCB, the UBW places a strong emphasis on activities and resources to support countries in scaling up their response. The UBW is also oriented to meet UNGASS goals, which have been clustered in the six basic structural categories of the UBW, and is also organized in terms of activities by the Cosponsors, the Secretariat and interagency activities. The UBW provides linkages between UNGASS goals, PCB decisions, and tangible costed results with measurable indicators of achievement.
- 38. The core budget is set at US\$250.5 million, with a proposed distribution as follows: US\$85.7 million for Cosponsors, US\$91.2 million for the Secretariat, and US\$73.6 million for interagency activities. An additional core interagency budget, which is necessary in order to implement fully the decisions of the PCB, is set at US\$20 million. The total UBW, which includes the core budget, the additional interagency core, and cosponsoring organizations' own global/regional and supplemental resources, amounts to US\$522.3 million for 2004–2005. Dr Cravero pointed out that there is a 76% increase in interagency activities, which is a direct result of more allocation of monies to support scaling up at country level, as directed by the PCB. Also, the proportion of core resources going to the country or regional levels, as opposed to the global level, increased from 45% in 2002–2003 to 57% in 2004–2005. Furthermore, the volume of the Cosponsor resources expended at country level has increased significantly.
- 39. Dr Mehta described the role of the thematic consultations in developing the 2004–2005 UBW. According to the 'convening agency' designations in 13 thematic areas, the Secretariat and Cosponsors organized thematic consultations to achieve clarity and consensus on programmatic priorities for UNAIDS. Thematic consultations involved bringing the Secretariat, Cosponsors and other key UN players, as necessary, to: (a) map existing activities; (b) identify key challenges and opportunities; (c) define programming priorities; (d) review each other's draft plans to sharpen focus, address gaps and reduce overlap; and (e) develop strategies to operationalize programme priorities.
- 40. Mr Stirling described the role of regional consultations in developing the 2004–2005 UBW. The regional consultations focused on what UNAIDS can do to help scale up action at the country, intercountry and regional levels. Five regional consultations were held to update the programme on the regional epidemics and response, review progress in implementation of the 2002–2003 UBW, identify gaps and opportunities, and agree on priorities and modalities for action. From this process, a common framework was developed that also took into account regional emphases. Some of the results included agreed-upon and monitorable regional interagency workplans, better-defined convening agency accountabilities, stronger oversight by regional directors, and better joint programming. A major challenge continues to be the expansion of technical and programming assistance so as to help countries to scale up HIV interventions.
- 41. Dr Zewdie described the monitoring and evaluation component of the UBW. Monitoring and evaluation in the context of UNAIDS can broadly be divided into three parts: (a) global monitoring by the Secretariat of the UBW, global action and global resources; (b) national monitoring done with the support of the Country Response Information System (CRIS) housed in National AIDS Councils and containing national and subnational indicators; and (c) normative guidance on global and national monitoring provided by the Monitoring and Evaluation Reference Group (MERG). A Global

HIV/AIDS Monitoring and Evaluation Support Team (GAMET), housed at the World Bank, has also been created to support monitoring and evaluation at country level. A thematic consultation on monitoring and evaluation during the UBW development process identified the priorities for UNAIDS for the UBW 2004–2005. Goals in the context of monitoring and evaluation include: (a) to build and enhance monitoring and evaluation capacity at country level; (b) to promote harmonization of monitoring and evaluation; and (c) to improve use of systems and capacity at country level.

- 42. The PCB thanked UNAIDS for its excellent presentation of the UBW and for the valuable interagency process of consultation from which the UBW was derived. The PCB expressed its appreciation for the fact that the budget has become more user-friendly and accessible. It praised the UBW not only as a financial document, but also as a budgetary system that divides responsibilities, sets out financial ramifications, and guides implementation. The PCB was also pleased to note that the UBW comprises an effective tool that supports the UN System Strategic Plan on HIV/AIDS. The PCB suggested that, in future, greater efforts be made to link more closely the budget and the Executive Director's report and to make the UBW more in line with the principles of result-based management. One PCB member requested more information regarding efforts made by the Secretariat to minimize possible resource gaps. Another PCB member suggested that networks of people living with HIV/AIDS should have greater input into the process of consultation leading to the development of the UBW.
- 43. In light of the huge and urgent challenges posed by the epidemic, the PCB acknowledged the moral responsibility of governments to fund the UBW and other HIV/AIDS-related efforts, and to share out responsibilities in an equitable manner, according to the principle of burden sharing. To mobilize the necessary funds, the PCB recognized that it would be necessary to seek funding from a wide range of donors. PCB members expressed the view that burden sharing, especially among OECD countries, should be fairer. One PCB member suggested that better funding be achieved through a round of negotiated agreements among OECD member states, while maintaining its voluntary nature.
- 44. The PCB acknowledged that the UBW is responsive to the urgent tasks at hand, as identified in the six areas of priority work. The PCB requested more information on the policies and activities of the Cosponsors in the field of HIV/AIDS (including their comparative advantages) and on how planned activities would avoid overlaps. The PCB welcomed the responsiveness of the UBW to the decisions of the PCB and encouraged UNAIDS to continue in its efforts to respond to those decisions—in particular, to strengthen further a strategic management approach to ongoing performance monitoring and reprogramming in the UBW.
- 45. The PCB commended the development of, and agreement on, a common framework for monitoring and evaluation of the global response to HIV/AIDS under UNAIDS leadership. It expressed appreciation for the document, *Technical Supplement—Costed Results Matrix* (UNAIDS/PCB (14)/ 03.Conference Paper 3, 9 June 2003), but requested clarity on the extent to which the indicators represented there relate to those being developed at country level.
- 46. The PCB expressed its hope that the priority areas that have been identified in the UBW will be translated into concrete actions in consultation with country programme managers. It also confirmed that every effort should be made to empower countries to make an impact at country level. One PCB member recommended that the UN Theme groups on HIV/AIDS discuss with national actors how best to achieve the implementation of the UBW. The PCB requested more reference in the UBW to the overarching goal of poverty reduction and the relationship of UBW activities to PRSPs, SWAPs and the CCA/UNDAF. The PCB also requested more explanation concerning how planned activities would achieve the necessary behavioural change in the context of HIV/AIDS.

- 47. The PCB welcomed the rights-based approach to gender equality and the resources allocated to this area. It suggested that further resources be set aside for specific gender work on behalf of girls and women, and that such efforts be made more visible in the budget. The PCB also suggested that the "inclusion of interventions focussing on women in national plans" be used as an indicator for achieving gender equality.
- 48. With regard to the allocation of resources, the PCB commended the increasing proportion of core budget resources being allocated to regional and country work and looked forward to the increased accountability of UNAIDS at country level. One PCB member requested that Table 6 be reviewed with a view to allocating more of the budget towards efforts at national level and to support South-South cooperation, which has proven so useful. The PCB was pleased to note that the interagency component has been strengthened, further enabling it to respond to PCB decisions mandating improved coordination and more effective action at country level, particularly with regard to monitoring and evaluation.
- 49. The PCB noted the reduction in proportion of resources for the Secretariat, and one PCB member queried whether this was realistic in light of the increased need for coordination, resource tracking, and monitoring and evaluation by the Secretariat. Though recognizing that each region has its own needs, which are difficult to compare, the PCB requested more information concerning the criteria used for the allocation of resources among the regions. A few PCB members felt that not enough of the budget was allocated to Africa, and another PCB member felt that not enough of the budget was allocated to Latin America and the Caribbean. Other PCB members queried the sufficiency of resources allocated to: (a) harm reduction in the context of injecting drug use; (b) programmes for women and girls, particularly those in conflict areas; and (3) treatment, care and support, especially given the target of expanding HIV treatment to 3 million people by 2005.
- 50. The PCB reviewed the proposed Unified Budget and Workplan for 2004–2005, and endorsed its strategies and approaches. The PCB approved the core budget of US\$250.5 million and the proposed distribution of those resources among the Cosponsors and the Secretariat, and in the interagency budget. The PCB approved the additional interagency core budget of US\$20 million, subject to funding availability; and took note of the Cosponsors' own resources and supplemental budgets for HIV/AIDS.

3: Financial and budgetary updates 1 January 2002 - 31 March 2003

51. Dr. Kathleen Cravero (Deputy Executive Director, UNAIDS) presented the interim financial management information for the 2002–2003 biennium 1 January 2002 to 31 March 2003 (UNAIDS/PCB (14)/03.4). As outlined in the information document, a 2000–2001 modest fund balance was brought forward to core resources for 2002–2003. This fund balance shielded UNAIDS from experiencing cash-flow problems during the first two months of the biennium when new contributions received towards the 2002–2003 budget amounted to only US\$7 million. The receipt of 2002–2003 contributions began to increase as of March 2002, and an overall improvement in the ratio of contributions over programme funding requirements was sustained until November 2002, when the action to process the US\$32.6 million representing the remaining Cosponsors' share under the 2002–2003 UBW was taken in the UNAIDS books. In January 2003, the Programme was required to obligate for the full year in advance approximately US\$17 million to cover 2003 salaries. This forced the Secretariat to borrow from the Operating Reserve in order to bridge the resource gap in February 2003.

- 52. With regard to the overall picture of the funding of the 2002–2003 UBW core budget, contributions received to date amount to US\$135.8 million or over 71% of the US\$190 million core UBW. The expenditure incurred to date since the beginning of the biennium amounts to US\$133.5 million. This comprised US\$32.6 million paid to Cosponsors; US\$29.9 million incurred for interagency activities, and US\$71 million expended for Secretariat activities and staff. When taking into account the December 2001 'jump-start' transfer of US\$32.6 million for Cosponsors' activities in the 2002–2003 UBW, actual total expenditure against the 2002–2003 UBW amounts to US\$166.1 million (US\$133.5 million plus US\$32.6 million) resulting in a financial implementation rate of 87%. Programme expenditure remaining to be incurred to fully implement the US\$190 million by 31 December 2003 amounts to US\$23.9 million. Given that the rate of implementation will likely come close to 100%, increased contributions as well as timely payments against pledges are necessary to attain resource objectives. Dr Cravero concluded by bringing to the attention of the PCB an Information Note containing the progress achieved to date with regard to UNAIDS' new premises in Geneva, including the related additional costs to be incurred during the next biennium and thereafter.
- 53. The PCB took note of the financial and budgetary update for the period 1 January 2002 to 31 March 2003 and encouraged donor governments and other partners who have not yet done so to release their contributions towards the Unified Budget and Workplan for 2002–2003.

4: Report from the PCB Working Group on UNAIDS Governance

- 54. The report of the PCB Working Group on UNAIDS Governance (UNAIDS/PCB (14) 03.5) was presented by Dr Martine Berger (Switzerland) and Mr André Basse (Senegal), the Co-Chairs of the Working Group established by the PCB at its 13th meeting in Lisbon in December 2002. The objective of the Working Group was to prepare a report for the PCB that included a set of recommendations designed to facilitate the achievement of the UNAIDS mandate through more effective and efficient governance. The recommendations were to address UNAIDS governance-related issues including roles, responsibilities, authorities and accountabilities; PCB membership; PCB methods of work; relationships with other governing bodies, especially those of the Cosponsors; and the relationship between the CCO and the Secretariat. The Report of the Co-Chairs provided the results of the Working Group, which included nine recommendations that were fully agreed upon and three recommendations on which there was only partial agreement.
- 55. The Co-Chairs noted that the Working Group did not fully achieve its objectives due both to the short timeframe and to the inability of the Working Group to reconcile differences. The Co-Chairs reported that recommendations on which there was no agreement related to the issue of roles, PCB membership, and the relationship between the CCO and the Secretariat. They further explained that there was at times a lack of common understanding in the Working Group regarding the distinction between 'management' and 'governance', and thus the scope of the Working Group. In closing, the Co-Chairs noted that, although the Working Group did not reach full consensus, it did develop some useful and practical recommendations that might improve the working methods of the PCB.
- 56. Professor M. Fernando Aires Alves Nunes Ventura (Coordinator, National Commission against HIV/AIDS, Portugal), representing Portugal, the outgoing Chair of the PCB, presented the Report of the Joint Session of the Executive Boards of UNDP, UNFPA, UNICEF and WFP held on 9 June 2003 in New York and entitled "HIV/AIDS: Addressing the recommendations of the UNAIDS Five-Year Evaluation". He reported that there was acknowledgment of the positive response of UNAIDS to the Evaluation with a further call for a results-oriented, flexible and innovative response, given the dynamic nature of the epidemic. In particular, participants cited major areas yet to be fully addressed, including the rapid depletion of human capacity in affected countries, as well as stigma, discrimination

and gender inequality. Implicit in most of the presentations was that joint programming should be further strengthened, particularly at country level, with greater clarity of action by Cosponsors on thematic issues.

- 57. To achieve greater interaction between Cosponsor Executive Boards and the PCB, three proposals were made: (a) have a standing agenda item at each Board on PCB recommendations and decisions, with a view to ensuring their integration into the work of the Cosponsors; (b) step up coordination at the country level through existing country-level mechanisms; and (c) hold joint field trips for Board Members of the Cosponsors and the PCB, focussed on HIV/AIDS and organized in cooperation with the UNAIDS Secretariat. These proposals were to be taken back to the individual full boards for consideration and implementation. Professor Ventura closed by commenting on the high level of commitment among the boards represented at the meeting and their strong endorsement of the need to take consistent and immediate action within their boards to ensure effective and well-coordinated results. The PCB thanked Professor Ventura for his report and its important recommendations.
- 58. The PCB expressed its appreciation to the Co-Chairs of the Working Group and for their hard work on a difficult and complex task. Some members noted, however, that the process had not been fully satisfactory. Concerning governance issues, several PCB members stated that they wanted the evaluation process to come to a close at this PCB and that continued processes, including further reviews and studies, should be avoided. Other PCB members, however, felt that, in light of the insufficient time and the importance of the issues, the review of governance issues should continue beyond this PCB meeting. The PCB urged that any decisions on governance be taken in the context of the ongoing process of UN reform of which UNAIDS and its Cosponsors are a part, including those being reflected in the UN Development Assistance Frameworks (UNDAFs) and the UN Resident Coordinator System. A number of PCB members expressed the desire for a smaller, more focused set of recommendations concerning governance.
- 59. The PCB acknowledged the challenge to develop more coherent positions on HIV/AIDS throughout the UN system and, in particular, between the PCB and the Cosponsors. One PCB member suggested that the PCB ecommend that a report on activities implemented and expenditures on HIV/AIDS become a standing agenda item at every Cosponsor executive board meeting. Among other things, this would help to ensure transparency of allocated resources both through the UBW and with regard to each Cosponsor's own resources.
- 60. The PCB expressed its approval for the high-level Cosponsor participation at this PCB meeting. This was recognized as a valuable step towards better reflecting the functions of the Cosponsors and enhancing coordination at both global and country level. The PCB agreed that there should be ongoing efforts to improve information-sharing between the Cosponsors and the PCB. Some PCB members expressed their view that joint field trips for board members of the Cosponsors and the PCB would represent an important opportunity for the executive boards to see for themselves performance in the field and to get a first-hand view of realities at country level. The PCB confirmed that a wider process of information-exchange had begun and would continue *inter alia* in the form of HIV/AIDS being an agenda item at the board meetings of the Cosponsors. The PCB also agreed that the PCB should in future hold thematic round-table discussions.
- 61. The PCB commended efforts to improve coordination among the Cosponsors at country level. Commenting on national coordinating mechanisms, one PCB member recommended that UNAIDS be strengthened at country level by giving the UNAIDS Country Coordinator more visibility and authority and that the head of the national coordinating mechanism in each country be a member of the UN Theme Group on HIV/AIDS so as to bring the issues of the bilateral donors and other stakeholders

to Theme Group deliberations. With regard to the suggested annex in the Resident Coordinator's Annual Report on UNAIDS Theme Group activities, one PCB member suggested that this annex not only contain information on internal UN cooperation, but also on cooperation with government, civil society and the private sector.

- 62. The PCB did not see any need to make changes to the ECOSOC resolutions through which UNAIDS was created. PCB members expressed the view that the ECOSOC resolutions allowed the PCB to review and update its roles and responsibilities concerning governance to reflect the changing context of UNAIDS and the new actors in the expanded response. Some PCB members expressed the need for greater clarity regarding procedures concerning the selection of PCB members.
- 63. Some PCB members supported the recommendation to create a bureau to assist the PCB and its Chair in carrying out its functions. Based on experience, a former Chair of the PCB, now a PCB observer, described three potentially positive elements of a bureau. These were: (a) increased ability of the Chair to structure consultations and decision making with regard to certain documents and issues; (b) greater feedback from Cosponsor and NGO members; and (c) greater support to the vice-chair as it moves towards chairmanship.
- 64. Other PCB members did not support the creation of such a bureau. A number of PCB members did not want to endorse the creation of a bureau until there was clarity on its membership, responsibilities, decision-making procedures and relationship to the PCB. Some PCB members urged that, if a bureau were created: (a) transactions costs be contained; (b) the creation of new working methods be minimized; and (c) the bureau be comprised of a small number of clearly defined representatives. Some PCB members expressed the view that the bureau should not be entrusted with the function of approving the final version of PCB decisions, as this was more properly a function of the full PCB.
- 65. PCB members felt that it would be of value to the PCB to receive the Report of the UNAIDS Executive Director to ECOSOC, but that it would not be appropriate for the PCB to review the report before it was issued by the Executive Director.
- 66. The Chair summed up the discussion, pointing out that the PCB was in agreement on some issues and was not in agreement on others. He directed the PCB Drafting Group to crystallize recommendations for consideration by the PCB in plenary.

5: Progress reports

5.1 Memorandum of Understanding between UNAIDS and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria

67. Dr Kathleen Cravero (Deputy Executive Director, UNAIDS) and Dr Purnima Mane (Chief Fund Portfolio Manager, Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria) presented progress reports on the conclusion of the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between UNAIDS and the Global Fund (UNAIDS/PCB (14)/03.7). Dr Cravero pointed out that the MOU submitted to the PCB was finalized in consultation with the Global Fund Secretariat and with the UNAIDS Cosponsors in accordance with the principles agreed at earlier PCB meetings. Dr Cravero was pleased to inform the PCB that the Board of the Global Fund approved the MOU without amendment in June 2003. The MOU defines the roles and responsibilities of UNAIDS and the Global Fund, recognizing the Global Fund as an important new financing mechanism, and UNAIDS as a key source of strategic analysis, policy advice and technical expertise to help countries access Fund resources and implement proposals.

- 68. Dr Cravero characterized the MOU as an enabling framework within which the Secretariat and Cosponsors can further develop their collaboration with the Global Fund, particularly at country level. She reiterated that the relationships defined in the MOU are already well under way. The UNAIDS Secretariat and Cosponsors are lelping countries to access Fund resources, including supporting the establishment and functioning of Country Coordinating Mechanisms (CCMs), the development of sound proposals, assisting CCMs in responding to Technical Review Panel comments, and supporting implementation in countries that have accessed funds.
- 69. Dr Cravero reconfirmed UNAIDS' commitment to making the Global Fund a success. She also pointed out that, to date, the cost of support to the Global Fund by the Secretariat alone was close to US\$3 million dollars. Hence, partial coverage of such support was reflected in the proposed UBW for 2004–2005, although the Secretariat and Cosponsors will have to continue to make substantial investments of human and financial resources at country level to support both proposal development and implementation. She stressed that the PCB's support was critical if UNAIDS was to continue to play its complementary role and help to ensure a positive return on donor investment through the Global Fund. She welcomed the PCB's support for the MOU and closer collaboration with the Global Fund.
- 70. Dr Mane thanked the PCB for the opportunity to describe progress achieved in the conclusion of the MOU between UNAIDS and the Global Fund. She reiterated that the MOU served to formalize and reinforce an ongoing, collaborative relationship with UNAIDS, which the Global Fund values. She pointed out that UNAIDS' roles in providing strategic analysis and policy advice on the epidemic to the Fund, particularly to the Technical Review Panel, and providing technical support to countries through proposal development and implementation, have been critical to the working of the Fund. She indicated that UNAIDS and the Global Fund are working towards further collaboration in the areas of monitoring and evaluation, as well as resource mobilization and advocacy. She closed by expressing the appreciation of the Global Fund for the collaborative spirit in which the MOU was agreed upon, but, even more so, for the manner in which UNAIDS and the Global Fund are working together.
- 71. The PCB welcomed the MOU as a valuable tool with which to formalize the relationship between UNAIDS and the Global Fund. It considered the MOU a positive framework for cooperation in analysis, policy advice, technical support to countries, monitoring and evaluation, resource mobilization and advocacy. The PCB reiterated its belief that cooperation between UNAIDS and the Global Fund should be based on the comparative advantages of each programme with a view to the promotion of national ownership, leadership and capacity-building in the response to HIV/AIDS. The PCB reconfirmed its view that the Global Fund should function as a mechanism for leveraging additional support to countries in their fight against HIV/AIDS. One PCB member suggested that this be clearly stated in the MOU. In this regard, the Global Fund should not replace multilateral and bilateral cooperation.
- 72. The PCB expected that the MOU would help recipient countries with regard to programme management, monitoring and evaluation and technical support through the planning cycles, all of which have been challenges at country level. The PCB also confirmed the various roles of UNAIDS, e.g. to bring its technical expertise in policy and country-level strategy to assist in the development of quality proposals and their implementation. The PCB welcomed the emphasis in the MOU on harmonizing monitoring and evaluation, and expressed the hope that continued efforts to harmonize would draw on existing UNAIDS monitoring and evaluation parameters. The PCB acknowledged that UNAIDS' support to the Fund represented significant additional work for UNAIDS. It pointed out that

a strong Global Fund depended on a strong UN and asked that donors bear this in mind when making their contributions to UNAIDS.

- 73. The PCB requested an update on the relationship and the implementation of the MOU, perhaps in the Executive Director's next report. One PCB member urged that recipient countries be involved in the review of the relationship set out in the MOU, and that the MOU be widely disseminated to potential recipient countries so that they are fully aware of the support they can expect from UNAIDS, including possible access to resources for assistance through the Programme Acceleration Funds and other Cosponsor facilities. One PCB member expressed concern that the costs of technical assistance during implementation were often not sufficiently covered, and that Principal Recipients should be allowed to 'purchase' such assistance, including from UN agencies, using Global Fund grants. The Representative from the Global Fund confirmed that this was possible.
- 74. Citing the fact that certain regional partnerships had already benefited from technical and financial support from the Global Fund, one PCB member suggested that the MOU be revised to include reference to regional coordinating mechanisms and UNAIDS regional level activities. It was suggested that the word "regional" be added throughout the document, where appropriate, and that the phrase "regional coordinating mechanism" be added where "country coordinating mechanism" exists.
- 75. PCB members raised a procedural issue regarding the current validity of the MOU and the timing of PCB approval and asked that this be clarified and that PCB approval be better synchronized with any future reviews and revisions of the MOU.
- 76. The PCB approved the MOU with amendments.

5.2 UN System Strategic Plan on HIV/AIDS (2001-2005)

- 77. Dr Werasit Sittitrai (Director, Programme Development and Coordination Group, UNAIDS) provided an update on the UN System Strategic Plan on HIV/AIDS (2001–2005) (UNSSP) (UNAIDS /PCB (14)/03.6). Dr Sittitrai pointed out that the UNSSP is a unique instrument in the UN system and an important example of UN reform in action. The UNSSP reflects the UN system's recognition that HIV/AIDS presents an unprecedented and multifaceted challenge, which requires that each agency's comparative advantage and expertise be fully utilized in the response. In February 2003, the Interagency Advisory Group on HIV/AIDS (IAAG) agreed to update the UNSSP to reflect the UNGASS Declaration of Commitment, the current realities of the epidemic, the PCB decisions following the Five-year Evaluation and other recent developments. Over the past few months, 18 of the 29 agencies, including the Secretariat and the Cosponsors, have updated their individual plans based on a common framework. The Secretariat will continue to work with the remaining UN agencies to finish updating their plans. Another UN agency has joined the UNSSP effort, bringing the total number of UNSSP participating agencies to 30.
- 78. Dr Sittitrai described progress in implementing the UNSSP since 2001, the changed context of the UN's efforts, and key priorities for the updated UNSSP in 2003–2005. These priorities include: (a) strengthening UN leadership especially at country level; (b) making strategic information accessible and more useful at all levels; (c) strengthening monitoring and evaluation activities; (d) enhancing partnership development, especially with civil society and the private sector; (e) strengthening the mobilization of financial and technical resources; (f) expanding the response of the development sector in addressing HIV/AIDS; and (g) improving coordination, effectiveness, capacity-building and accountability of the UN's response. Dr Sittitrai closed by citing the PCB's request for a mid-term performance monitoring review to measure the collective progress of the UN system in implementing

the UNSSP. The Secretariat will discuss the process for this mid-term review with Cosponsors and other UNSSP agencies in preparation for the development and submission of the report to the IAAG and the PCB in 2004.

- 79. The PCB welcomed the progress report on the UNSSP. The PCB recognized that the UN system represents a tremendous resource in controlling the epidemic. Action by the UN can cover a broad spectrum—from specific action according to each agency's mandate and implementation of UN workplace strategies, to the provision of resources in the fight against HIV/AIDS. It urged that efforts be made to fully utilize the UN system as an HIV/AIDS resource. The PCB stated that the key to the global response is to show how the UN system adds value at global, regional and country levels. Given the scarcity of HIV/AIDS resources relative to the demands for programmes and activities at all levels, the impact and outcomes of the UN system must be made visible. The PCB urged that the relationship between the UBW and the UNSSP be complementary and not duplicative. It also called for more clarity with regard to organizations' individual responses to HIV/AIDS and the level of HIV/AIDS resources allocated and expended by them. It encouraged donor agencies to bring this issue up at the respective UN agency board meetings and to ensure consistency between their various multilateral interventions.
- 80. The PCB looked forward to the mid-term review of the UNSSP and requested that more information on the review and its process be made available in due course. In light of having had only a short time to review the UNSSP, one PCB member requested the right to review the report and providing input to the Secretariat as required.
- 81. The PCB took note of the progress to date and actions under way with regard to the performance monitoring and updating of the UNSSP (2001–2005).

6. Next PCB Meeting

- 82. Dr Kathleen Cravero (Executive Deputy Director, UNAIDS) proposed dates for the PCB meetings to be held during the years 2004–2006. In general, it was proposed that the annual PCB meetings be held at the end of June, and the thematic meetings in mid-December. In particular, it was proposed that the 15th meeting of the PCB take place on 23–24 June 2004 in Geneva; the 16th PCB meeting be held on 14–15 December 2004, venue to be confirmed; the 17th PCB meeting be held on 28–29 June 2005 in Geneva; the 18th PCB meeting be held on 27–28 June 2006 in Geneva, and the 19th PCB meeting be held on 12–13 December 2006, venue to be confirmed.
- 83. The PCB agreed to these proposed dates for the next PCB meetings.

7. Any other business

84. The Chair welcomed Dr Nafis Sadik, Special Envoy of the UN Secretary-General for AIDS in Asia and the Pacific, to the PCB and invited her to give a statement. Dr Sadik expressed her appreciation for the invitation and the opportunity to convey the concerns of the UN Secretary-General regarding HIV/AIDS. In spite of the continuing spread of HIV and all that has been said and done to combat it, Dr Sadik stressed that a key task remains to convince national and local authorities in parts of Asia that they must take urgent action against HIV/AIDS. Though there have been changes in the attitudes of Asian leaders, few are willing to face unwelcome realities or to stand up to say what must be said. In particular, leaders are in need of tools, especially appropriate language on how to publicly address sexual and reproductive health issues. Dr Sadik said that many leaders continue to operate under the illusion that the epidemic will confine itself to sex workers, drug users and men who have

sex with men, without realizing that these people not only have rights and legitimate needs, but also mix with the rest of the population. Dr Sadik described her efforts to work with human rights commissions and other human rights groups to protect the human rights of the most vulnerable, such as sex workers, men who have sex with men, and people living with HIV/AIDS, and to change laws and push for decriminalization in countries where such laws exist. She reiterated that, in Asia, the vulnerability of girls and women to HIV/AIDS due to the violation of their human rights and their lack of autonomy is a critical issue.

- 85. Dr Sadik also stressed that while the potential for further spread in Asia and the Pacific is enormous, so is the potential for successful prevention efforts. She urged the PCB and the entire international community to give more attention to Asia and the Pacific, where a major HIV/AIDS epidemic is imminent. Many countries in the region are requesting the development of intercountry and regional programmes to address pressing problems that require intercountry coordination. At country level, a mandated approach for a unified budget and workplan could also enable UNAIDS to do its work more efficiently and effectively. At present, UN programmes at country level consist mainly of individual projects, and coordination depends more on individual, rather that institutional, arrangements. Nor are there clear lines of accountability. She stressed that coordination should not be limited to the United Nations but should also include bilateral and other international donors, as well as national players. She asked the PCB to consider the importance of having one person at the country level to be fully responsible, with adequate institutional authority. In this regard, she recommended that UNAIDS reinforce the authority of the UNAIDS Country Coordinator. She closed by reconfirming that AIDS is the most serious developmental issue countries have ever faced and that it will continue to demand an extraordinary response.
- 86. The PCB underlined Dr Sadik's comments concerning the chaotic nature of the donor situation at country level, which undermines efforts and, in some cases, results in people working against each other. It urged that recipient governments take the lead in requiring improvements in coordination among donors and other international actors. The PCB confirmed the need for appropriate language to address issues related to sex and drug use. Pointing out that such issues relate to cultural sensitivities and are more likely to be advanced by civil society than by government, the PCB urged UNAIDS to continue to promote greater participation of civil society and people living with HIV/AIDS as one way to significantly improve the response at country level. One PCB member underlined the importance of drug use as a factor driving the epidemic, particularly in Asia and some other regions, and pointed out the need for the PCB to discuss more fully the response in terms of injecting drug use. One PCB member highlighted the need to share effective legislation and other efforts regarding the protection of human rights, blood safety, and other issues. The member also suggested much closer links between HIV/AIDS efforts and programmes to ensure the availability of reproductive and child health services. Another PCB member used the term "principle of last opportunity" to urge governments to act before people become infected and to address the human rights issues that are driving the epidemic.
- 87. The PCB took note of the statement of Dr Sadik.

8. Adoption of decisions, recommendations and conclusions

88. The decisions, recommendation and conclusions of the 14th meeting of the PCB were prepared by a PCB Drafting Group established at the beginning of the meeting. These decisions, recommendations and conclusions were discussed and adopted in plenary prior to the closure of the meeting. They are set out in Annex 2. The Chair of the Drafting Group and those who participated in the drafting group were thanked for their excellent work.

Annex 1 AGENDA

Fourteenth meeting

Geneva, 26-27 June 2003

Place of meeting: Governing Body Room, International Labour Office Building, Route des Morillons,

1211 Geneva.

Time of meeting: 09h00 - 12h30 and 14h00 - 17h00

Provisional Agenda

1. **Opening:**

- 1.1 Opening of the meeting and adoption of provisional agenda
- 1.2 Election of Officers
- 1.3 Consideration of the reports of the twelfth and the thirteenth meeting
- 1.4 Report of the Executive Director, 2002-2003
- 1.5 Report by the Chairperson of the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations
- 1.6 Report by the NGO representative
- 2. UNAIDS Unified Budget and Workplan 2004-2005
- 3. Financial and budgetary updates 1 January 2002 -31 March 2003
- 4. Report from the PCB Working Group on UNAIDS Governance
- 5. Progress reports:
 - 5.1 Memorandum of Understanding between UNAIDS and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria
 - 5.2 UN System Strategic Plan on HIV/AIDS 2001-2005
- 6. Next PCB meeting
- 7. Any other business
- 8. Adoption of decisions, recommendations and conclusions

Annex 2 DECISIONS, RECOMMENDATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

Agenda item 1.1: Opening of the meeting and adoption of the provisional agenda

1. The PCB adopted the provisional agenda, as amended.

Agenda item 1.2: Election of Officers

2. Zambia was elected as Chair, Canada as Vice-chair and the Netherlands as Rapporteur.

Agenda item 1.3: Consideration of the reports of the twelfth and thirteenth meetings

3. The PCB adopted the report of the Twelfth meeting and the report of the Thirteenth meeting, as amended.

Agenda item 1.4: Report of the Executive Director

- 4. In light of the substantial needs for additional support to countries in implementing actions to meet the goals and targets of the UNGASS Declaration of Commitment on HIV/AIDS, the PCB endorses the plans of UNAIDS to expand the provision of technical support at country level, in particular in the areas of monitoring and evaluation, partnership development and resource mobilization.
- 5. The PCB requests UNAIDS and encourages other development partners to promote the harmonization and simplification of the rules, procedures and operations in support of country planning and implementation in a more effective manner.
- 6. The PCB notes the progress in the implementation of its decision of December 2002 that UNAIDS Country Coordinators be placed in a greater number of countries and recognizes their essential role to the good functioning of UN Theme Groups on HIV/AIDS and UN Country Teams.
- 7. The PCB notes the key role played by UNAIDS in assessing global resource needs in responding to HIV/AIDS and in tracking resource flows, and the extent to which this has contributed to resource mobilization. The PCB urges UNAIDS, and in particular the Secretariat, to expand its efforts in resource tracking, in conjunction with relevant global, regional and national partners.
- 8. The PCB notes with appreciation the essential support provided by UNAIDS in assisting countries to access resources from various financial channels for their national AIDS programmes, such as the World Bank's Multi-Country HIV/AIDS Programme (MAP) and the Global Fund to fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria and other multilateral and bilateral mechanisms, and urges UNAIDS to continue its work in this area.
- 9. The PCB notes with concern the increasing feminization of the epidemic, emphasizes the central role of women in the response to HIV/AIDS, and welcomes UNAIDS plans to mount a major

- effort to increase women's access to HIV prevention and care services, support girls' education, reduce violence against women and support women's legal rights and economic security (including through property and inheritance rights).
- 10. The PCB urges UNAIDS to take all necessary steps, in conjunction with other UN system agencies, including the World Food Programme and the Food and Agriculture Organization, to coordinate UN system responses to the combined impact of HIV/AIDS and food insecurity, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa, through the integration of emergency, humanitarian and development responses, joint programming opportunities, and integration of HIV/AIDS into vulnerability assessments and consolidated appeals processes.
- 11. The PCB urges UNAIDS to intensify ongoing work with its partners to fight stigma, discrimination and marginalization, in order to reduce their impact, and encourage governments to secure the rights of vulnerable populations and people living with, and affected by, HIV/AIDS.
- 12. The PCB takes note of the significant progress achieved in promoting HIV/AIDS prevention, care, treatment and support through greater leadership and political commitment, increasing financial resources, and more affordable HIV medicines and commodities. The PCB requests UNAIDS to continue its work in these areas and to intensify its support to countries in scaling up their national programmes, in particular through human resources capacity building, technical assistance, and strengthening partnerships especially with associations of people living with HIV and other members of civil society. The PCB urges Member States of the World Trade Organization to promote access to treatment in developing countries consistent with the World Trade Organization Declaration on TRIPS and Public Health (Doha Declaration).
- 13. The PCB notes progress in the implementation of multisectoral responses to HIV/AIDS, and urges UNAIDS to continue its work in building capacities, particularly in least developed countries, in order to respond to the epidemic across all sectors, by integrating HIV/AIDS into development instruments especially Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers and sector-wide approaches.
- 14. The PCB encourages linkages between the Executive Director's annual report and the UBW, and in particular requests that the Executive Director's annual report should include tangible achievements attained by UNAIDS through the implementation of the UBW and reflect the specific contributions of the Cosponsors and the Secretariat.

Agenda item 1.5: Report by the Chairperson of the Committee of Cosponsoring Organizations

- 15. The PCB expresses its appreciation to the CCO chair for the extensive report on the work of the Cosponsors and the high level representation, including by Executive Heads, at this PCB meeting.
- 16. The PCB requests the Cosponsors to report to the PCB annually on their work, focusing on country level progress and challenges in meeting their objectives.

Agenda item 1.6: Report by the NGO representative

17. The PCB welcomes the report of the NGO Representative and, in particular, requests that the UNAIDS Secretariat and Cosponsors continue prioritizing support to communities and vulnerable groups in budgeting and in programme implementation, and clearly reflect funding allocation for

these groups in the UBW reporting.

18. The PCB confirms that NGO delegates are represented by organizations and not individuals; confirms that the maximum term of office for any NGO delegate is three years; and approves exceptionally a one-year extension of term for OASIS as the NGO delegate for Latin America and the Caribbean.

Agenda item 2: UNAIDS Unified Budget and Workplan 2004-2005

- 19. The PCB commends the Secretariat and Cosponsors for their presentation of the 2004-2005 UBW, which responds fully to the decisions of the PCB following the external evaluation of UNAIDS and is now a more user-friendly and transparent document. The PCB takes note of the use of thematic and regional consultations to sharpen the strategic focus of the 2004-2005 UBW and to promote coordinated action by UNAIDS.
- 20. The PCB endorses the strategies and approaches contained in the 2004-2005 UBW, in particular its strategic thrust to enable countries to scale up their national response to the epidemic;
- 21. The PCB approves the core budget of US\$250.5 million and the proposed distribution of those resources as follows: US\$85.7 million for Cosponsors; US\$91.2 million for the Secretariat; and US\$73.6 million for interagency activities;
- 22. The PCB approves the additional interagency core budget of US\$20 million, subject to availability of funding beyond the \$250.5 million core budget;
- 23. The PCB recognizes that the approval of this UBW implies a moral responsibility for all countries to fully fund it, in accordance with the principle of burden-sharing.
- 24. The PCB notes with satisfaction the increases in the Cosponsors' own resources and takes note of the supplemental budgets for HIV/AIDS contained in the UBW which is a tangible expression of their increased capacity, commitment and concrete action to fight HIV/AIDS; and encourages the Cosponsors to continue to expand their action in this area and to report to their Governing Bodies on an annual basis.
- 25. The PCB encourages the Cosponsors to include in the UBW report information on their country level spending for HIV/AIDS activities.
- 26. The PCB encourages UNAIDS to further integrate a results-based management framework into the next UBW and to explicitly link the desired results with the different comparative advantages of the Cosponsors.
- 27. The PCB encourages the Secretariat and Cosponsors to continue to strengthen performance monitoring of the implementation of the UBW.
- 28. The PCB encourages UNAIDS to review periodically the allocation of funds and the balance between the various regions and areas of work.

Agenda item 3: Financial and budgetary updates 1 January 2002 – 31 March 2003

- 29. The PCB takes note of the interim financial information for the 2002-2003 biennium and encouraged donor governments and other partners who have not yet done so to release their 2003 contributions towards the UBW for 2002-2003.
- 30. The PCB also notes with appreciation the progress achieved to date in the construction project for the new UNAIDS premises in Geneva and calls on the Secretariat to continue updating and consulting the PCB on this issue and on any other related costs.

Agenda item 4: Report from the PCB Working Group on UNAIDS Governance

- 31. The PCB appreciates the report of the former chair of the PCB on the discussion on governance in the Joint Boards of UNDP, UNFPA, UNICEF and the World Food Programme (WFP).
- 32. The PCB notes with appreciation the work of the co-chairs of the Working Group on Governance, the consultative process and the timely delivery of their report.

With regard to the Report of the PCB Working Group on UNAIDS Governance,

- 33. The PCB recommends that thematic round tables or panel discussions be organized at subsequent PCB meetings on issues of strategic importance in the response to HIV/AIDS and the role of UNAIDS;
- 34. The PCB requests the Secretariat, in consultation with the Chair and Vice-Chair of the PCB, to propose for decision the mandate, roles, functions, and membership of a Bureau, if it is desirable to establish, at the next PCB meeting.
- 35. The PCB requests the Chair of the PCB to forward PCB recommendations to the Chairs of the governing bodies of Cosponsors, in order to encourage them to discuss and act upon the relevant decisions by their respective governing bodies on an annual basis;
- 36. The PCB decides to consider ways to foster improved reporting from Member States and NGOs, making use of existing mechanisms, wherever possible; to reduce transaction costs; and avoid duplication as additional measures to the ongoing monitoring activities of the Programme through the Secretariat and Cosponsors. These could include inviting Member States and/or NGOs to report on their situations/actions on a regular basis according to specified criteria, and more intense in-depth report from countries on a rotational basis and occasional presentations by Theme Groups to the PCB.
- 37. The PCB requests regular reporting from the Secretariat on actions taken on PCB decisions, to be reflected in the annual report of the Executive Director, and that the biennial report by the Secretary-General on UNAIDS to ECOSOC is transmitted to the PCB as soon as it is in the public domain.
- 38. The PCB refers to the PCB Chair to determine, at his discretion, any action for addressing the recommendations in the report which were partially agreed.

Agenda item 5: Progress reports

5.1: Memorandum of Understanding between UNAIDS and the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria

- 39. The PCB welcomes and approves with amendments the Memorandum of Understanding between UNAIDS and the Global Fund as an enabling framework within which the Secretariat and Cosponsors can further develop their collaboration with the Global Fund, in order to support programmes at country level.
- 40. The PCB welcomes the clear delineation of complementary roles and responsibilities between UNAIDS and the Global Fund. This includes recognition both of the Global Fund as an important new financing mechanism and of UNAIDS as a key source of strategic analysis, policy advice and technical expertise to help countries access the resources of the Global Fund. One of the central founding principles of the Global Fund is reliance on local development partners for the provision of policy and technical support to Country Coordinating Mechanisms, principal recipients and other national partners and processes. The PCB further recognizes that a strong Global Fund requires a strong UN.
- 41. The PCB recognizes the financial and human resources being devoted by UNAIDS in support of countries to access additional resources and implement programmes as well as in support of the Global Fund. It urges that the additional demands that this places on UNAIDS be borne in mind in decisions concerning contributions to UNAIDS. It notes that the proposed UBW for 2004-2005 includes provisions for continuing this support, which should remain a central part of UNAIDS' work during the next biennium.

5.2: UN System Strategic Plan on HIV/AIDS 2001-2005

42. The PCB takes note of the effort to update the UN System Strategic Plan 2001-2005 and encourages the UNSSP participating agencies to continue to update their plans to ensure greater relevance and response of the UN's action in support of national efforts.

Agenda item 6: Next PCB meeting

43. The PCB decides that the 15th meeting of the PCB will take place on 23-24 June 2004 in Geneva. The PCB further decides in principle that the 16th PCB meeting will be held on 14-15 December 2004, place to be confirmed; that the 17th PCB meeting will be held on 28-29 June 2005 in Geneva; that the 18th PCB meeting will be held on 27-28 June 2006 in Geneva and that the 19th PCB meeting will be held on 12-13 December 2006, place to be confirmed.

Agenda item 7: Any other business

- 44. The PCB notes with appreciation the report of the Special Envoy of the UN Secretary-General on HIV/AIDS in Asia and the Pacific.
- 45. The PCB urges that intensified action be undertaken in the Asia and Pacific region by UNAIDS, in light of an HIV/AIDS epidemic which, despite current low prevalence levels in many countries, is

likely to grow dramatically in the absence of an expanded response.

- 46. The PCB supports the need to focus efforts on strengthening national capacity to coordinate and implement responses to HIV/AIDS, and for improved coordination among donors and governments, including greater harmony with the UN system. In addition, the PCB recognizes the need to strengthen the ability of UNAIDS to fulfil its role at country level.
- 47. The PCB urges UNAIDS and its development partners to further strengthen the links between the areas of child health, sexual and reproductive health and rights, and HIV/AIDS so as to improve the effectiveness of poverty reduction strategies.

Agenda item 8: Adoption of decisions, recommendations and conclusions

48. The PCB adopts the decisions, recommendations and conclusions of the fourteenth PCB meeting.

15.07.2003

Annex 3 LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

I. MEMBERS / MEMBRES

Member States / Etats Membres

Bahamas

Dr Perry Gomez Tel.: +1 242 322 2839 Director, National AIDS Programme Fax : +1 242 356 2893

Ministry of Health and Environment Email: depmedic@batelnet.bs

P.O. Box N-1784 Shirley Street Nassau

<u>Brazil – Brésil</u>

Dr Alexandre Grangeiro Tel.: +55 61 448 8003 or 448 8004

Deputy Director Fax: +55 61 448 8224

National AIDS Programme Email: grangeiro@aids.gov.br

Ministry of Health

Av. W3 Norte - SEPN 511, Bloco C

Brasilia, D.F. 70.750-920

Ms Rosemeire Munhoz

Tel.: +5561 448 8019

Chief Advisor for External Cooperation

Fax: +5561 448 8130

Chief Advisor for External Cooperation Fax: +5561 448 8130
Brazilian Ministry of Health Email: ROSEMEIRE@AIDS.GOV.BR

SEPN Q.511 Bloco "C", 1° Andar

CEP 70.750-537 Brasilia - DF

Burundi

S.E. Mme Geneviève Sindabizera Tel.: +257 244 760

Ministre à la Présidence Chargée de la Lutte Fax: +257 244 758 contre le SIDA Email: genevievebizera@yahoo.fr

Ministère à la Présidence chargé de la Lutte

contre le SIDA
B. P. 1139

Mme Clémence Bununagi Tel. : +257 246265 Cadre d'appui au Ministère à la Présidence Fax : +257 244758

Chargé de la Lutte Contre le Sida Boulevard Prince L. Kwagasore

B.P. 1139 Bujumbura

Bujumbura

Dr Tharcisse Barihuta

Directeur Technique au Projet multisectoriel

de Lutte Contre le VIH/SIDA et d'Aide aux

Orphelins (PMLSO)

Avenue de la J.R.R. No. 11 B.P. 836 Bujumbura

Mme Justine Bihotori

Premier Conseiller

Mission permanente du Burundi auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de Lausanne 44

1201 Genève

Tel.: +257 245300 Fax: +257 245301

Email: barihutatharc@yahoo.fr

Canada

Mr Bruce Montador

Vice-President

Multilateral Branch

Canadian International Development Agency

200 Promenade du Portage

Hull, Quebec

Ms Janine Hutt

Alternate Head of Delegation

Senior Programme Manager

United Nations and Commonwealth Program Canadian International Development Agency

200 Promenade du Portage

Hull, Quebec

Ms Sandra Black

Senior HIV/AIDS Advisor and

A/Director of Health and Education Division

Policy Branch

Canadian International Development Agency

200 Promenade du Portage

Hull, Quebec

Mrs Gail Steckley

Senior Policy Advisor, HIV/AIDS and

International Issues

International Affairs Directorate

Health Canada

8th Floor, Room 814A, Brooke Claxton Building

Tunney's Pasture 0908A

Ottawa, K1A 0K9

Tel.: +41 22 732 7705

Fax: +41 22 732 7734

Tel.: +819 956 0478 Fax: +819 953 5348

Tel.: +1 819 994 3938

Fax: +1 819 997 6632

Email: Janine_hutt@acdi-cida.gc.ca

Tel.: +1 819 994 0157

Fax: +1 819 953 8058

Email: Sandra-black@acdi-cida.gc.ca

Tel.: +1 613 957 7313 Fax: +1 613 957 4195

e-mail: gail_steckley@hc-sc.gc.ca

Mr Thomas Fetz Tel.: +41 22 919 9200 Third Secretary Fax: +41 22 919 9227

Email: Thomas.fetz@dfait-maeci.gc.ca

Permanent Mission of Canada to the United

Nations Office at Geneva Avenue de l'Ariana 5 1202 Genève

China - Chine

Dr Ren Minghui Tel.: +86 10 6879 2283
Deputy Director General Fax: +86 10 6879 2286
Department of International Cooperation Email: ren@moh.gov.cn

Ministry of Health of the People's Republic of China

1 Nanlu, Xizhimenwai, Xicheng District

Beijing

Dr Qi Qingdong
Tel.: +8610 6879 2275
Director
Fax: +8610 6879 2279
Division of Multilateral Relations
Email: qiqd@moh.gov.cn

Department of International Cooperation

Ministry of Health of the People's Republic of China

1, Xizhi Men Wai Nan Lu

Beijing

Dr Hao Yang
Tel.: +86 10 6879 2376
Director, Division II
Fax: +86 10 6879 2514
Department of Disease Control
Email: haoyang@moh.gov.cn

Ministry of Health of the People's Republic of China

Xizhi Men Wai Nan Lu

Beijing

Mr Yang Xiaochun

Tel: +41 22 879 5678

Counsellor

Fax: +41 22 793 7014

Permanent Mission of China to the United Nations

Office at Geneva Chemin de Surville 11 Case postale 85 1213 Petit-Lancy

Côte d'Ivoire

S.E. Mme Christine Nebout Adjobi
Ministre de la Lutte contre le SIDA

Tél.: +225 20 21 07 28
Fax: +225 20 21 08 34

16 BP. 131 Abidjan 16

S. E. M. Claude Beke Dassys

Tél.: +41 22 717 0250

Ambassadeur

Fax: +41 22 717 0260

Représentant permanent de la République de Côte d'Ivoire auprès de l'Office des

Nations Unies à Genève Route de Ferney 149h Case postale 315 1218 Grand-Saconnex

M. Jérôme Klôh Weya

Tél.: +41 22 717 0250

Premier Conseiller

Fax: +41 22 717 0260

Mission permanente de la République
de Côte d'Ivoire auprès de l'Office des

Nations Unies à Genève Route de Ferney 149h Case postale 315 1218 Grand-Saconnex

Prof. Gahoussou Coulibaly Tel.: +225 20 21 07 28 Conseiller Technique chargé des Affaires Fax : +225 20 21 08 34

Scientifiques au Ministère de la Lutte contre Email : Coulgahoussou@yahoo.fr

le SIDA

16 BP. 131 Abidjan 16

Docteur Anthony Tanoh

Tel.: +225 0778 9442

Directeur du Programme de Prise en Charge
des personnes vivant avec le VIH/SIDA

Tel.: +225 0778 9442

Fax: +225 20 33 43 09

Email: antonitanoh@yahoo.fr

Ministère d'Etat

Ministère de la Santé et de la Population

04 BP 2504 Abidjan 04

Denmark – **Danemark**

Mr Bo Jensen Tel.: +45 33 921417 Head of Department Fax: +45 32 541421 Royal Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs Email: bojens@um.dk

2, Asiatisk Plads Copenhagen

Mrs Thea Christiansen

Head of Section

Royal Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Tel.: +45 33 920000

Fax: +45 33 921421

Email: thechr@um.dk

Asiatisk Plads 2 Copenhagen

Mr Michael Bremerskov Jensen Tel.: +41 22 918 0040 Secretary Fax: +41 22 918 0066

Permanent Mission of Denmark to the United Nations Office at Geneva Rue de Moillebeau 56 (7ème étage)

Case postale 435 1211 Genève 19

Germany - Allemagne

Mrs Dorle Miesala-Edel Tel.: +49 228 941 3210 Head of Division Fax: +49 228 941 4932

Unterabteilung 32 Email: dorle.miesala-edel@bmgs.bund.de

Email: assia.brandrup-lukanow@gtz.de

Federal Ministry of Health

Am Propsthof 7a D-53121 Bonn

Mr Klaus Botzet Tel.: +41 22 730 1248 Counsellor Fax: +41 22 730 1285

Permanent Mission of the Federal Republic

of Germany to the United Nations Office in Geneva

Chemin du Petit-Saconnex 28c

Case postale 171 1211 Geneva 19

Protection

Dr Assia Brandrup-Lukanow Tel.: +49 6196 79 1272 Director-Division 43 Health, Education, Social Fax: +49 6196 79 1366

German Technical Cooperation Agency (GTZ)

Dag-Hammarskjöld-Weg 1-5

D-65726 Eschborn

Dr Julia Katzan

Coordinator-Sector Project AIDS Control in EU

German Technical Cooperation Agency (GTZ)

Tel.: +49 228 2094620

Fax: +49 228 2094623

Email: Julia.Katzan@gtz.de

Heussallee 2-10 D-53115 Bonn

Mr Johannes Heiler Tel.: +41 22 730 1210 Attaché Fax: +41 22 730 1285

Permanent Mission of the Federal Republic

of Germany to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Chemin du Petit-Saconnex 28c

1209 Genève

Guatemala

Mme Dory Lucas Alecio Tél.: +502 2516054
Coordinateur Fax: +502 2516054
Programme national de Prévention contre Email: pnsg@ops.org.gt

le VIH/SIDA

9a. avenida 14-65, zona Interior

Guatemala

Mlle Stephanie Hochstetter Skinner-Klee Tél.: +41 22 733 0850 Premier secrétaire Fax: +41 22 733 1429

Mission permanente du Guatemala auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Chemin de Sous-Bois 21

1202 Genève

<u>India – Inde</u>

Ms Meenakshi Datta Ghosh Tel.: +91 11 23019066 Director Fax: +91 11 23017706

National AIDS Control Organizations (NACO)

Ministry of Health and Family Welfare

344 "A", Nirman Bhavan

New Delhi 110011

Mr Debabrata Saha Tel.: +41 22 906 8686 Deputy Permanent Representative Fax: +41 22 906 8696

Permanent Mission of India to the United Nations Office at Geneva Rue du Valais 9 (6ème étage)

1202 Geneva

Mr Arun Kumar Chatterjee Tel.: +41 22 906 8686 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 906 8696

Permanent Mission of India to the United Nations

Office at Geneva

Rue du Valais 9 (6ème étage)

1202 Geneva

<u>Ireland – Irlande</u>

Ms Nicola Brennan Tel. : +35 3 14082991 Senior Development Specialist/HIV/AIDS Fax : +35 3 14082448

Development Cooperation Directorate Email: nicola.brennan@iveaghirlgov.ie

Department of Foreign Affaits

Bishops Square Redmond Hill

Dublin

Mr Richard Fallon Tel.: +41 22 919 1950 Deputy Permanent Representative Fax: +41 22 919 1951

Permanent Mission of Ireland to the United Nations

Office at Geneva Rue de Moillebeau 58

1209 Geneva

Japan – Japon

Dr Yusuke Fukuda

Director

International Cooperation Office International Affairs Division

Minister's Secretariat

Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare

Tokyo

Dr Masami Sakoi Tel.: +81 3 3595 2404 Director, Office for WHO Fax: +81 3 3502 6678

Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare Email: Sakoi-masami@mhlw.go.jp

1-2-2, Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-ku

Tokyo

Dr Kuniaki Miyake Deputy Director Specific Diseases Control Division Health Service Bureau Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare 1-2-2, Kasumigaseki, Chiyoda-Ku

Tokyo

First Secretary Fax: +41 22 788 3811 Permanent Mission of Japan to the United Nations

Office at Geneva Chemin des Fins 3 Case postale 337 1211 Geneva 19

Mr Satoshi Hemmi

Kenya

Dr Margaret Gachara Tel.: +254 2 250558; 254 2711261

Tel.: +41 22 717 3111

Director Fax: +254 2 2711203

National AIDS Control Council

Office of the President

Chancery Building, 6th floor, Valley Road

P.O.Box 61307

Nairobi

Mr Anthony Muchiri Tel.: +41 22 906 4050 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 731 2905

Permanent Mission of Kenya to the United Nations

Office at Geneva Avenue de la Paix 1-3

Geneva

Myanmar

Dr Kyi Soe Tel.: 951 538 900 Director-General Fax: 951 538 899

Department of Health Planning Email: kyisoe@mptmail.net.mm

Ministry of Health

27, Pyidaungsu Yeiktha Road

Yangon

Netherlands – Pays Bas

H.E. Mr Ian M. De Jong

Tel.: +41 22 748 1804

Ambassador, Permanent Representative of

Fax: +41 22 748 1818

The Netherlands to the United Nations

Office at Geneva

Avenue Giuseppe Motta 31-33

C.P. 196

1211 Geneva 20

Mr Paul J. Sciarone Tel.: +41 22 748 1803 Minister Plenipotentiary Fax: +41 22 748 1838

Permanent Mission of the Netherlands to the

United Nations Office at Geneva Avenue Giuseppe Motta 31-33

C.P. 196

1211 Geneva 20

Mr Mark Van der Velden Tel.: +31 70 348 6854 Policy Advisor Fax: +31 70 348 6564

Policy Advisor Fax: +31 70 348 6564
Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs Email: mark-vander.velden@minbuza.nl

Bezuidenhoutseweg 67 2500 EB The Hague

Mrs Aagje Papineau Salm Tel.: +31 70 348 4894 Head, Social Policy Division Fax: +31 70 348 5366

Ministry of Foreign Affairs Email: aa.papineau-salm@minbuza.nl

Email: Monique.middelhoff@minbuza.nl

Bezuidenhoutseweg 67 2594 AC Den Haag

Ms Monique Middelhoff Tel.: +41 22 7481811 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 7481818

Permanent Mission of the Netherlands to the

United Nations Office at Geneva 31-33, avenue Giuseppe Motta

1211 Genève 20 CIC

Philippines

Dr Myrna Cabotaje Tel.: +63 2 711 7846 Director Fax: +63 2 711 7846

National Center for Disease Prevention and

Control Email: mccabotaje@co.doh.gov.ph

Department of Health

Bldg 3, San Lazaro compound

Manila

Mrs Maria Teresa C. Lepatan Tel.: +41 22 716 1930 Minister Fax: +41 22 716 1932

Permanent Mission of the Philippines to the

United Nations Office at Geneva

Avenue Blanc 47 1202 Geneva

Romania - Roumanie

Dr Mariana Mardarescu
Vice President
National Commission for Fighting Against AIDS
Tel.: +40 212 102 363
Fax: +40 212 101 497
Email: cnlas@fx.ro

Ministry of Health and Family 1 Dr Grotovici Street, Sector 2

Bucharest

Mrs Doina Iordache Tel.: +41 22 752 1090 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 752 2976

Permanent Mission of Romania to the United Nations Office at Geneva Chemin de la Perrière 6

chemin de la l'efficie o

1223 Cologny

Russian Federation - Fédération de Russie

Dr Alexander T. Goliusov
Tel.: +7 095 973 1393
National AIDS Coordinator
Chief HIV/AIDS Prevention Department
Fax: +7 095 973 1549
Email: goliusov@gsen.ru

Ministry of Health Vadkovsky Per. 18/20

Moscow

Dr Nikolay Fetisov Tel.: +41 22 733 1870 Counsellor Fax: +41 22 734 4044

Permanent Mission of the Russian Federation to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Avenue de la Paix 15

Geneva

Email: mission.spain@ties.itu.int

Email: Martine.berger@deza.admin.ch

Spain - Espagne

Dr Isabel Noguer Zambrano Tel.: +341 95 5961219 Technical Advisor Fax: +341 95 5961719

National AIDS Programme

Ministerio de Sanidad y Consumo

Paseo del Prado 18-20

E-28015 Madrid

Ms Susana Camara Angulo Tel.: +41 22 731 2230 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 731 5370

Permanent Mission of Spain to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Avenue Blanc 53 1202 Geneva

Switzerland - Suisse

M. Jacques Martin Tel. : + 41 31 322 34 47 Conseiller principal (santé + population) Fax : + 41 31 324 13 47

Affaires multilatérales Email : jacques.martin@deza.admin.ch

Direction du développement et de la Coopération Département fédéral des affaires étrangères

CH-3003 Berne

Dr Martine Berger Tel.: +41 22 749 2475 Conseiller Fax: +41 22 749 2437

Mission permanente de la Suisse auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de Varembé 9-11 Case postale 194 1211 Genève 20

Tunisia - Tunisie

Prof. Habib Achour

Tél. : +216 71 562 362

Directeur général de la Santé

Fax : +216 71 563 093

Ministère de la Santé publique

Email : habib.achour@rns.tn

Place Bab Saadoun

Tunis

Zambia - Zambie

The Hon. Dr. Brian Chituwo Tel.: +2601253882 Minister of Health of the Republic of Zambia Fax: +2601253187

Ndeke House P.O. Box 30205

Lusaka

UNAIDS/PCB(14)/03.8

Page 36

Dr Rosemary Musonda Tel.: +260 1 255044 Director General Fax: +260 1 253881

National AIDS Council Email: rmusonda@zamnet.zm

315 Independence Avenue P.O. Box 36718

Lusaka

Mr Davies Chimfwembe Tel.: +260 1 253026 Director Planning and Development Fax: +260 1 253344

Ministry of Health Email: idapplan@zamnet..zm

Ndeke House P.O. Box 30205

Lusaka

Ms Annie Kazhingu Tel./Fax: +260 1 224318 Programme Manager Mobile: +260 97 844 377 Institute of Human Rights, Intellectual Email: akazhingu@yahoo.com

Properties and Development

Premium House P.O.Box 34020

Lusaka

H.E. Mr Love Mtesa Tel.: +41 22 788 5330 Ambassador and Permanent Representative Fax: +41 22 788 5340

Email: lovemtesa@yahoo.cm.uk of the Republic of Zambia to the United Nations

Office at Geneva

Chemin du Champ-d'Anier 17-19

1209 Geneva

Mr Alfonso K. Zulu Tel.: +41 22 788 5330 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 788 5340

Nations Office at Geneva

Chemin du Champ-d'Anier 17-19

1209 Geneva

Permanent Mission of Zambia to the United Email: katendazulu@hotmail.com

Cosponsoring Organizations / Organismes coparrainants

United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)

- Fonds des Nations Unies pour l'enfance (FISE)

Mr Mark Stirling Tel.: +1 212 326 7475 Principal Officer, HIV/AIDS Fax: +1 212 303 7954 **UNICEF House** Email: mstirling@unicef.org

3. United Nations Plaza New York N.Y. 10017

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)

- Programme des Nations Unies pour le développement (PNUD)

Tel.: +1 212 906 3687 Dr Monica Sharma Principal Adviser Fax: +1 212 906 5023 Email: Monica.Sharma@undp.org

Team Leader of Special Initiative on HIV/AIDS

Bureau for Development Policy 304 East 45th Street, Room FF 1030

New York, N.Y. 10017

Ms Chika Saito Tel.: +1 212 906 5014 HIV/AIDS and Development Specialist Fax: +1 212 906 5023

304 East 45th Street, Room FF-1050 Email: chika.saito@undp.org

New York, N.Y. 10017

Ms Vinciane Quoidbach Tel.: +41 22 917 8539

Programme Officer **UNDP** Geneva

11-13 Chemin des Anémones

Châtelaine

International Labour Office/Bureau International du Travail

Dr Franklyn Lisk Tel.: +41 22 799 7668 Director Fax: +41 22 799 6349 ILO Global Programme on HIV/AIDS Email: lisk@ilo.org

and the World of Work (ILO/AIDS)

4, route des Morillons

1211 Genève

Ms Claire Mulanga Tel.: +41 22 799 8227 **Technical Officer** Fax: +41 22 799 6349 Email: mulanga@ilo.org ILO Global Programme on HIV/AIDS

and the World of Work (ILO/AIDS)

4. route des Morillons

1211 Geneva

Dr Sabine Beckmann Tel.: +41 22 799 6606 Fax: +41 22 799 6349 Senior Technical Advisor

ILO Global Programme on HIV/AIDS

and the World of Work 4. route des Morillons 1211 Geneva

Tel.: +41 22 799 7366 Ms Marika Maillot Junior Technical Officer Email: maillot@ilo.org

ILO Global Programme on HIV/AIDS

and the world of Work 4. route des Morillons

Geneva

United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA)

- Fonds des Nations Unies pour la Population (FNUAP)

Dr Suman Mehta Tel.: +1 212 297 5256 HIV/AIDS Coordinator Fax: +1 212 297 4915 Technical Support Division Email: mehta@unfpa.org

220 East 42nd Street New York, N.Y. 10017

Ms Safiye Cagar Tel.: +41 22 917 8571 Director Fax: +41 22 917 8016

UNFPA Geneva Office Palais des Nations 1211 Geneva

Mr Erik Palstra Tel.: +41 22 917 8563 Senior External Relations Officer Fax: +41 22 917 8016

UNFPA Geneva Office Email: eric.palstra@undp.org

Palais des Nations

Geneva

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC)/

Programme des Nations Unies pour le Contrôle international des Drogues (ONUDC)

Ms Sumru Noyan Tel.: +43 1 2 60604266 Director, Division of Operations & Analysis Fax: +43 1 260605931

UNODC Email: sumru.noyan@undcp.org

Vienna International Centre

P.O.Box 500 A-1400 Vienna

Dr Moruf Adelekan Tel.: +43 1 260604442 Drugs and HIV/AIDS Adviser Fax: +43 1 260605866

UNODC Email: moruf.adelekan@undcp.org

Vienna International Centre

P.O.Box 500 A-1400 Vienna

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization /

Organisation des Nations Unies pour l'éducation, la science et la culture (UNESCO)

Mr Koichiro Matsuura Tel.: +33 1 45681311 Director-General Fax: +33 1 45671690

UNESCO

7, Place de Fontenoy F-75352 Paris 07-SP

Email: g.hernes@iiep.unesco.org

Mr Gudmund Hernes Tel.: +33 1 450 37716 HIV/AIDS Coordinator, Director IIEP Fax: +33140728781

UNESCO-IIEP

7-9 rue Eugène Delacroix

Paris 75116

Ms Alexandra Draxler Tel.: +33 1 450 37788 Senior Programme Specialist Fax : +33 1 407 28366

UNESCO Focal Point for HIV/AIDS Email: a.draxler@iiep.unesco.org

UNESCO-IIEP

7-9 rue Eugène Delacroix

Paris 75006

Ms Ilona Jurgens Genevois Tel.: +33 1 45037745 Assistant Programme Specialist Fax: +33 1 40728366

UNESCO-IIEP

7-9 rue Eugène Delacroix

75116 Paris

World Health Organization (WHO) / Organisation mondiale de la Santé (OMS)

Dr Tomris Turmen Tel.: +41 22 791 2757

Executive Director

Family and Community Health

20 avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27

Dr Bernhard Schwartländer Tel.: +41 22 791 4705/3359 Director HIV/AIDS Fax: +41 22 791 4834

20 avenue Appia Email: schwartlanderb@who.int

1211 Geneva

Dr Winnie Mpanju-Shumbusho Tel.: +41 22 791 4645 Chief, Strategy, Advocacy, Policy Fax: +41 22 791 4834

HIV/AIDS

Family and Community Health

20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27

Dr Kerry Kutch
Administrative Management Officer
HIV/AIDS
Tel.: +4122 791 2191
Fax: +4122 791 4834
Email: kutchk@who.int

Family and Community Health

20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27

 Dr Pascale Gilbert-Miguet
 Tel.: +41 22 791 2013/3040

 Chief Medical Officer
 Fax: +41 22 791 4120

Medical Service Email: gibertmiguetp@who.int Avenue Appia 20

1211 Geneva

The World Bank - Banque mondiale

Dr Mamphela Ramphele Tel.: 1 202 473 2419 Managing Director Fax: 1 202 522 1638

The World Bank Email: mramphele@worldbank.org

1818 H Street, N.W. Washington DC 20433

USA

 Dr Debrework Zewdie
 Tel.: +1 202 473 9414

 Program Director
 Fax: +1 202 522 3235

Global HIV/AIDS Program Email: dzewdie@worldbank.org

Human Development Network

1818 H. Street, NW Washington DC 20433

Ms Elizabeth Mziray Tel.: +1 202 458 7036 Operations Analyst Fax: +1 202 522 3235

1818 H Street, NW Email: emziray@worldbank.org

Washington DC 20433

Representatives of Nongovernmental Organizations/People Living with HIV/AIDS - Représentants des Organisations non gouvernementales/Personnes vivant avec le VIH/SIDA

<u>Africa – Afrique</u>

Ms Alice Lamptey
Tel.: +233 21 500851
The Ghana HIV/AIDS Network (GHANET)
Association of African Universities
Fax: +233 21 774821
Email: alamptey@aau.org

P.O.Box LG760

Accra Ghana

Asia & Pacific – Asie et Pacifique

Ms O.C. Lin Tel.: +852 2560 8528 Chief Executive Fax: +852 2560 4154

Hong Kong AIDS Foundation

5/F Shaukeiwan Jockey Club Clinic Email: oclin@hkaf.com

8 Chai Wan Road, Shaukeiwan

Hong Kong

Europe

Mr Pedro Silvério Marques Tel.: +351 213974298 ABRAÇO Fax: +351 213977357

Travessa do Noronha, 5 - 3 Dto Email: abraco@mail.telepac.pt

1200 Lisbon Portugal

<u>Latin America & the Caribbean/</u> <u>Amérique latine et les Caraïbes</u>

Dr Rubén Mayorga Tel. : + 502 220-1332 / 253-3453

Executive Director Fax: +502 232-1021

Organización de Apoyo a una Email: oasisgua@intelnet.net.gt Sexualidad Integral frente al SIDA, OASIS oasisrm@intelnet.net.gt

6 Avenida 1-63 Zona 1 Guatemala City

North America/Amérique du Nord

01001Guatemala

Dr Diane Riley Tel.: +1 416 604 1752
Deputy Director-General Fax: +1 416 604 1752

Canadian Foundation for Drug Policy /IHRA Email: RILEYDM@AOL.COM

23 Hillsview Ave.
Toronto ON
M6P 1J4 Canada

II. OBSERVERS - OBSERVATEURS

Member States - Etats membres

<u>Angola</u>

Dr Sandra Neto de Miranda Tel. : +41 22 732 3060 Assistant Fax : +41 22 732 3060

Permanent Mission of the Republic of Angola to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Rue de Lausanne 45-47

1201 Geneva

<u>Australia – Australie</u>

Mr Peter Callan Tel.: +41 22 799 9108 Counsellor (Development) Fax: +41 22 799 9190

Email: peter.callan@dfat.gov.au

Permanent Mission of Australia to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Chemin des Fins 2

1211 Geneva 19

Tel.: +41 22 799 9107 Ms Leonie Oates-Mercier **Executive Assistant** Fax: +41 22 799 9190 Email: leonie.oates-mercier@dfat.gov.au

Permanent Mission of Australia to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Chemin des Fins 2

C.P. 172

1211 Geneva 19

Austria

Dr Jean-Paul Klein Tel.: 431 711 4103 Fax: 431 718 7183 Deputy Head, Department of Infectious Diseases

Ministry for Health and Women

and Generations Radetzkystr. 2 A-1010 Wien

Bahrain – Bahreïn

Dr Sonaya Al-Jowder Tel.: +973 248 610 National STD/HIV Program Manager Fax: +973 256 784

Ministry of Health P.O. Box 33831

Isa Town, Kingdom of Bahrain

Belgium – Belgique

Mme Jana Zikmundova Tel.: +41 22 730 4005 Conseiller Fax: +41 22 734 5079

Mission permanente de la Belgique Email: geneva.secr-coop@diplobez.fed.be

Rue de Moillebeau 58 (6^{ème} étage)

C.P. 473

CH-1211 Genève 19

Mme Florence Duvieusart Attaché

Mission permanente de la Belgique auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de Moillebeau 58 (6^{ème} étage)

C.P. 473

CH-1211 Genève 19

Email: jean-paul.klein@bmgf.gv.at

Email: iqamber@batelco.com.bh

Tel.: +41 22 730 4000 Fax: +41 22 734 5079

<u>Cameroon – Cameroun</u>

M. Jean-Bernard Ateba Mvomo

Tel.: +41 22 787 5040

Deuxième Secrètaire

Fax: +41 22 736 2165

Mission permanente de la République du

Cameroun auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies

à Genève Rue du Nant 6 1207 Genève

<u>Czech Republic – République tchèque</u>

Dr Jaroslav Jedlicka Tel.: +420 2 67 08 26 50 National AIDS Programme Manager Fax: +420 2 67 08 25 32

HIV Epidemiologist Email: jaroslav.jedlicka@szu.czdlckj@szu.cz

National Institute of Public Health

Šrobárova 48 10042 Prague

Mr Lukáš Machon Tel.: +41 22 910 3780 Third Secretary Fax: +41 22 740 3662

Permanent Mission of the Czech Republic to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Chemin Louis Dunant 17

Case postale 109 1211 Genève 20

Dominican Republic – République dominicaine

Dr Magaly Bello de Kemper Tel.: +41 22 715 3910 Conseiller Fax +41 22 741 0590

Mission permanente de la République dominicaine auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de Lausanne 63 (7^{ème} étage)

1202 Genève

<u>Finland – Finlande</u>

Ms Vuokko Heikkinen Tel.: +358 9 1605 6232 Counsellor Fax: +358 9 1605 6202

Email: vuokko.heikkinen@formin.fi

Ministry for Foreign Affairs

P.B. 176

FIN-00161 Helsinki

UNAIDS/PCB(14)/03.8

Page 44

Ms Kristiina Häikiö Tel.: +41 22 919 4242 Counsellor Fax: +41 22 740 0287

Permanent Mission of Finland Email: kristiina.haikio@formin.fi

to the United Nations Office at Geneva Rue Pré-De-La-Bichette 1

Case Postale 198 1211 Geneva 20

Dr Pekka Holmström Tel.: +358 9 47448673
Epidemiologist Fax: +358 9 47448468
National Public Health Institute Email: pekka.holmstrom@ktl.fi

National Public Health Institute Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology

Mannerheimintie 166 00300 Helsinki

France

Mme France Auer Tel.: +41 22 758 9111 Conseiller Fax: +41 22 758 9137

Mission permanente de la France auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève Villa "Les Ormeaux"

Villa "Les Ormeaux' Route de Pregny 36 1292 Chambésy

Mme Catherine Bilger Tel.: +33 1 40 56 73 85 Chargée de Mission Fax : +33 1 40 56 72 43

Ministère de la Santé Email: <u>catherine.bilger@sante.gouv.fr</u>

Tel.: +41 22 758 9146

Fax: +41 22 758 9153

Email: jerome.saddier@diplomatie.fr

8, avenue de Segur Paris 75006

M. Jérôme Saddier Premier Secrétaire

Mission permanente de la France auprès de

l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève Villa "Les Ormeaux"

Route de Pregny 36 1292 Chambésy

<u>Gabon</u>

Mme Abena Angone Tel.: +41 22 731 6869 Conseiller Fax: +41 22 731 6847

Mission permanente du Gabon auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Avenue Blanc 47 Case postale 12 1211 Genève 7

Ghana

H.E. Mr Fritz K. Poku Tel.: +41 22 919 0450 Ambassador and Permanent Representative Fax: +41 22 734 9161

of Ghana to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Rue de Moillebeau 56

1209 Geneva

Ms Matilda A. Alomatu Tel.: +41 22 919 0450 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 734 9161

Permanent Mission of the Republic of Ghana to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Rue de Moillebeau 56

1209 Geneva

<u>Greece</u>

Mr Evangelos Tambakis

Member of KEEL's Board of Directors

Hellenic Centre for Infectious Diseases Control

Tel.: +30 210 889 9000

Fax: +30 210 881 8868

Email: pr@keel.org.gr

6-8 Makedonias Str., P.C. 104 33

10433 Athens

Ms Maria Vareli
Head of Training Department
Hellenic Centre for Infectious Diseases Control

Tel.: +30 210 88 99 000
Fax: +30 210 88 18 868
Email: m.vareli@keel.org.gr

6-8 Makedonias Str.

P.C. 104 33 Athens

<u>Haiti – Haïti</u>

M. Jean Claudy Pierre Tel.: +41 22 732 7628 Premier secrétaire Fax : +41 22 732 5536

Mission permanente d'Haïti auprès de l'Office

des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de Monthoux 64

1201 Genève

Holy See - Saint-Siège

M. Guido Castelli Gattinara Tél.: +39 06 6859 2190 Expert Fax: +39 06 6859 2508

Bambino Gesú Children Hospital

P.S. Onofrio 4 00165 Rome

UNAIDS/PCB(14)/03.8

Page 46

Mme Anne-Marie Colandrea

Expert

Mission permanente d'Observation

du Saint-Siège auprès de l'Office des

Nations Unies à Genève

Chemin du Vengeron 16

Case postale 28

1292 Chambésy

M. Giuliano Rizzardini

Expert

Mission permanente d'Observation

du Saint-Siège auprès de l'Office des

Nations Unies à Genève

Chemin du Vengeron 16

Case postale 28

1292 Chambésy

Hungary - Hongrie

Mr Balaas Ratkai

Third Secretary

Permanent Mission of Hungary to the

United Nations Office at Geneva

Avenue de Champel 81

1206 Geneva

Tel.: +41 22 346 0323

Tél.: +41 22 758 9820

Fax: +41 22 758 1729

Tél. +41 22 758 9820 Fax: +41 22 758 1729

Email: mission.holy-see@ties.itu.int

Email: mission.holy-see@ties.itu.int

Fax: +41 22 346 5861

Iceland

Mrs Asthildur Knutsdottir

Attaché

Permanent Mission of Iceland to the

United Nations Office at Geneva

Avenue Blanc 49, Case postale 86

1211 Geneva 20

Tel.: +41 22 716 1700

Fax: +41 22 716 1707

Email: asthildur.knutsdottir@utn.stjr.is

Mrs Hildur Björns Vernudottir

Trainee

Permanent Mission of Iceland to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Avenue Blanc 49, Case postale 86

1211 Geneva 20

Tel.: +41 22 716 1700

Fax: +41 22 716 1707

Email: hildur.b.vernudottir@utn.stjr.is

Indonesia - Indonésie

Mr Ade Padmo Sarwono Tel.: +41 22 338 3350 First Secretary (Political Affairs) Fax: +41 22 345 5733

Permanent Mission of Indonesia to the Email: ade-padmo.sarwono@ties.itu.int

United Nations Office at Geneva

Rue de Saint-Jean 16 Case postale 2271 1211 Genève 2

Italy - Italie

Mme Natalia Quintavalle Tél.: +41 22 918 0820 Premier Conseiller Fax: +41 22 734 6702

Mission permanente de l'Italie auprès de Email : natalia.quintavalle@ties.itu.int l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Chemin de l'Impératrice 10

1292 Pregny

<u>Luxemburg</u> – <u>Luxembourg</u>

M. Marc Godefroid Tel. : +41 22 919 1929 Premier secrétaire Fax : +41 22 919 1920

Mission permanente du Grand-Duché de

Luxembourg auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Chemin de la Rochette 13 (4^{ème} étage)

Case postale 134 1211 Genève

Madagascar

Mme Yolande Pasea Tél.: +41 22 740 1650 Conseiller Fax: +41 22 740 1616

Mission permanente de la République de

Madagascar auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Avenue Riant Parc 32

1209 Genève

Mexico – Mexique

Mme Dulce Valle Alvarez Tel. : +41 22 748 0705 Conseiller Fax : +41 22 748 0708

Mission permanente du Mexique auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Avenue de Budé 16

1202 Genève

Morocco - Maroc

Mme Siham Bouassa Tel.: +41 22 791 8181 Conseiller Fax: +41 22 791 8180

Mission permanente du Royaume du Maroc auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève Chemin François-Lehmann 18a 1218 Grand-Saconnex

Monaco

M. Jean-Philippe Bertani

Premier Secrétaire

Mission permanente de la Principauté de Monaco
auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de Moillebeau 56
1209 Genève

Tel.: +41 22 919 0460
Fax: +41 22 919 0469

Fax: +41 22 919 0469

Norway – Norvège

Ms Bjørg S. Leite
Tel.: +47 22 24 36 70
Senior Adviser
Email: bsl@mfa.no
Ministry of Foreign Affairs

P.O. Borg 8114 Dep

P.O.Box 8114 Dep N-0030 Oslo

Dr Ottar T. Christiansen

Counsellor

Permanent Mission of Norway to the United
Nations Office at Geneva

35 Bis, avenue de Budé
P.O.Box 274

1211 Geneva 19

Poland

Mrs Katarzyna Walkowska-Iwianska Tel.: +48 22 331 7796
International Relations Expert Fax: +48 22 331 7776
National Centre for AIDS Email: international@aids.gov.pl

Ul. Samsonowska 1 02829 Warsaw

 Ms Renata Lemieszewska
 Tel.: +41 22 710 9711

 First Secretary
 Fax: +41 22 710 9799

Permanent Mission of the Republic of Poland Email: renata.lemieszewska@ties.itu.int to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Chemin de l'Ancienne Route 15, Case postale 130

1218 Grand-Saconnex

Portugal

S.E. M. Luis Filipe de Conceição Pereira Tel.: +351 21 330 5000

Ministre de la Santé Fax: +351 21 330 5161

Chef de la Délégation Av. Joao Crisóstomo 9-6° 1049-062 Lisbonne

S.E. M. José Caetano da Costa Pereira Tel.: +41 22 918 0200 Représentant permanent du Portugal Fax: +41 22 918 0228

auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue Antoine-Carteret 33

Case postale 425 1211 Genève 16

M. Fernando Aires Alves Nunes Ventura

Coordinateur

Tel.: +351 21 722 0823

Fax: +351 21 721 0365

Ministère de la Santé

Palácio Bensaúde, Estrada Da Luz, 153

Lisbonne

M. Fernando Soares Chef du Cabinet du Ministre de la Santé Ministère de la Santé Av. Joao Crisóstomo 9-6° 1049-062 Lisbonne

Mme Ana Margarida Pereira

Conseiller

Ministère de la Santé Av. Joao Crisóstomo 9-6°

1049-062 Lisbonne

M. Paulo Bárcia Tel.: +41 22 918 02 00 Conseiller Fax: +41 22 918 02 28

Mission permanente du Portugal

auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue Antoine-Carteret 33

Case postale 425 1211 Genève 16

Mme Helena Morais Vaz

Tel.: +351 21 722 0823

Directrice des Relations internationales

Fax: +351 21 721 0365

Email: hmvaz@cnlcs.min-saude.pt

Commission national de lutte contre le SIDA

Ministère de la Santé

Palácio Bensaúde, Estrada Da Luz, 153

1600-153 Lisbonne

Republic of Korea – République de Corée

Mr Hyo-hwan Ahn Tel.: +41 22 748 0032 Counsellor Fax: +41 22 748 0002

Permanent Mission of the Republic of Korea to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Avenue de l'Ariana 1 Case postale 42 1211 Geneva 20

San Marino - Saint-Marin

H.E. Mme Federica Bigi Tél.: +41 22 918 5020 Ambassadeur Fax: +41 22 918 5030

Représentant permanent de la République de Saint-Marin auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de la Faucille 14 1201 Genève

M. Raphaël Innocentini Tél.: +41 22 918 5020 Stagiaire Fax: +41 22 918 5030

Mission permanente de la République de Saint-Marin auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève Rue de la Faucille 14 1201 Genève

Senegal - Sénégal

S.E. M. Ousmane Camara Tel. : +41 22 918 0230 Ambassadeur et Représentant permanent Fax : +41 22 740 0711

de la République du Sénégal auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Rue de la Servette 93

1202 Genève

M. André Basse Tél.: +41 22 918 0230 Premier secrétaire Fax : +41 22 740 0711

Mission permanente de la République du Sénégal auprès de l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève Rue de la Servette 93

1202 Genève

Slovakia – Slovaquie

Prof. Emil Tomášik

Chief of Department of HIV/AIDS Prevention

State Institute of Public Health of

Tel.: +421 2 4437 3866

Fax: +421 2 4437 2641

Email: tomasik@szusr.sk

the Slovak Republic

Trnavská 52 Bratislava 82645

Dr Eva Máderová Tel.: +421 2 44455177 Head of Department of Epidemiology Fax: +421 2 44372641

State Institute of Public Health of

the Slovak Republic

Trnavska 52 Bratislava 826 45

Dr Ivan Rovný Tel.: +421 2 443 72906 Chief Hygienist of the Slovak Republic Fax: +421 2 443 72 641 Ministry of Health Email: rovny@szusr.sk

Limbova 2 Bratislava

Mrs Jana Bartosiewiczová Tel.: +41 22 747 7400 Counsellor Fax: +41 22 747 7434

Permanent Mission of the Slovak Republic to the United Nations Office at Geneva Chemin de l'Ancienne route 9

Case postale 160 1218 Grand-Saconnex

South Africa – Afrique du Sud

Ms Daisy Mafubelu Tel.: 022 849 5442 Counsellor (Health) Fax: 022 849 5438

Permanent Mission of South Africa Email: daisy.mafubelu@ties.itu.int to the United Nations Office at Geneva

Rue du Rhône 65 1204 Geneva

<u>Sweden – Suède</u>

 Mr Anders Molin
 Tel.: +46 8 698 5239

 Head, HIV/AIDS Secretariat
 Fax: +46 8 698 5647

Swedish International Development Email: anders.molin@sida.se

Cooperation Agency 10525 Stockholm

Mr Bengt Gunnar Herrström Tel.: +46 8 405 5482 Deputy Director Fax: +46 8 723 1176

Ministry for Foreign Affairs

SE-103 39 Stockholm

Tomas Lundström Tel.: +46 8 698 5787 Programme Officer Fax: +46 8 698 5647

Health Division Email: tomas.lundstrom@sida.se

Swedish International Development

Cooperation Agency 10525 Stockholm

Ms Eva Charlotte Roos Tel.: +46 8 698 4040 Programme Officer Fax: +46 8 698 5647

Swedish International Development

Cooperation Agency 10525 Stockholm

Ms Pia Stavås Tel.: +41 22 908 0800 First Secretary Fax: +41 22 908 0810

Permanent Mission of Sweden to the Email: pia.stavas@foreign .ministry.se

United Nations Office at Geneva

Rue de Lausanne 82 Case postale 190 1211 Genève 20

<u>United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland/</u> Royaume-Uni de Grande-Bretagne et d'Irlande du Nord

H.E. Mr Simon Fuller Tel.: +41 22 918 2300 Ambassador, Permanent Representative of the Fax: +41 22 918 2444

United Kingdom to the United Nations Office

at Geneva

37-39 Rue de Vermont

1211 Geneva

Dr Carole Presern

Tel.: +41 22 918 2370

First Secretary, Health and Development

Fax: +41 22 918 2444

United Kingdom Mission to the United Nations Email: c-presern@dfid.gov.uk

Office at Geneva Rue de Vermont 37-39

1211 Geneva 20

Mr John Worley Tel.: +44 207 023 0341

Manager (Specialised Agencies Team) Email: jm-worley@dfid.gov.uk
Department for International Development

1 Palace Street

London SW1E 5HE

Email: pwolf@usaid.gov

Ms Robin Gorna Tel.: +44 20 70230824 HIV/AIDS Team Leader Fax: +44 20 70230428

Policy Division

Department for International Development

1 Palace Street London SW1E 5HE

Mr Jerry Ash

Deputy HIV/AIDS Team

Department for International Development

Tel.: +44 207 0233 0928

Fax: +44 207 0233 0428

Email: j-ash@dfid.gov.uk

1 Palace Street London SW1E 5HE

<u>United States of America – Etats-Unis d'Amérique</u>

Ms Constance Carrino

Director, Office of HIV/AIDS Email: ccarrino@usaid.gov

USAID

Washington, D.C.

Ms Pamela Wolf Technical Adviser Office of HIV/AIDS

USAID

Washington, D.C.

Dr Jane Cowley Tel.: +1 202 647 2480

Bureau of International Organ. Affairs

Department of State Email: cowleyjm@state.gov

Washington, D.C.

 Mr David Hohman
 Tel.: +41 22 749 4623

 Health Attaché
 Fax: +41 22 749 4717

United States Mission to the United Nations Email: hohmande@state.gov

Office at Geneva Route de Pregny 11 1292 Chambésy

Venezuela

S.E. Mme Blancanieve Portocarrero Tel.: +41 22 717 0940 Ambassadeur et Représentant permanent de la Fax: +41 22 717 0941

République Bolivarienne du Venezuela auprès de

l'Office des Nations Unies à Genève

Chemin François-Lehmann 18a

1218 Grand-Saconnex

Tel.: +41 22 717 0944 Mme Madai Hernández Fax: +41 22 717 0941 Conseiller

Mission permanente de la République bolivarienne Email: mission.venezuela@ties.itu.int

de Venezuela auprès de l'Office des Nations

Unies à Genève

Chemin François-Lehmann 18a

1218 Grand-Saconnex

Zimbabwe

Tel.: +41 22 758 3011 H.E. Mr Chitsaka Chipaziwa Ambassador and Permanent Representative Fax: +41 22 758 3044

Permanent Mission of Zimbabwe to the United Nations Office at Geneva Chemin William Barbey 27

1292 Chambésy

Mr Brighton Mugarisanwa Tel.: +41 22 758 3011 Counsellor Fax: +41 22 758 3044

Permanent Mission of Zimbabwe to the Email: bmugarisanwa@yahoo.co.uk United Nations Office at Geneva

Chemin William Barbey 27 1292 Chambésy

<u>Intergovernmental Organizations – Organisations intergouvernementales</u>

Mr Bernard Gardiner Tel.: +41 22 730 4222 Unit Manager, HIV/AIDS Global Programme Fax: +41 22 733 0395

International Federation of Red Cross and Email: Bernard.gardiner@ifrc.org

Red Crescent Societies 17 Chemin des Crêts P.O.Box 372 1211 Geneva 19

Dr Danielle Grondin Tel.: +41 22 717 9358 Director, Migration Health Services Fax: +41 22 798 6150 International Organization for Migration Email: dgrondin@iom.int

Headquarters, Geneva 17 route des Morillons

C.P. 71

CH-1211 Geneva 19

Ms Mary Haour-Knipe Tel.: +41 22 717 9234 Senior Advisor Migration and HIV/AIDS Fax: +41 22 798 6150 Email: mhaourknipe@iom.int

Migration Health Services

International Organization for Migration

Headquarters, Geneva 17 route des Morillons C.P. 71

CH-1211 Geneva 19

Ms Virginia H. Guerrero Tel.: +41 22 730 8290 Chief of Human Resources Management Fax: +41 22 730 8115

World Meteorological Organization Email: guerrero_v@gateway.wmo.ch

7 bis, avenue de la Paix Case postale No. 2300 CH-1211 Genève 2

<u>United Nations System Organizations – Organisations du Système des Nations Unies</u>

Mr Sergey Shaposhnikov Tel.: +41 22 917 1467 Special Assistant/Political Affairs Officer Fax: +41 22 917 0002

Office of the Director-General at UNOG Email: sshaposhnikov@unog.ch

8-14 Avenue de la Paix

1211 Geneva

Mr Paul Spiegel

Senior Technical Officer (HIV/AIDS)

Health and Community Development Section

UNHCR

Case Postale 2500 CH-1211 Genève 2

Ms Leslie Ewart Tel.: +41 22 917 1231 Information Officer Fax: +41 22 917 0660 FICSA Email: ficsa@unog.ch

Palais des Nations CH-1211 Geneva 10

Switzerland

Ms Maria-Luisa Silva Tel.: +41 22 917 9106 Senior Human Rights Officer Fax : +41 22 917 9010

Office of the High Commissioner

for Human Rights Palais des Nations CH-1211 Geneva 10

Ms Robin Jackson Tel.: +39 06 6513 2562 Head HIV/AIDS Unit Fax: +39 06 6513 2873

United Nations World Food Programme Email: robin.jackson@wfp.org

Via C. G. Viola 68-70 Parco dei Medici 00148 Rome

Ms Sheila Sisulu

Tel.: +39 06 6513 2005

Deputy Executive Director

United Nations World Food Programme

Tel.: +39 06 6513 2005

Fax: +39 06 6513 2834

Email: Sheila.sisulu@wfp.org

Via C. G. Viola 68-70

Parco dei Medici 00148 Rome

Nongovernmental Organizations - Organisations non gouvernementales

Mr Richard A. Frank

President

Population Services International

Tel.: +1 202 785 0072

Fax: +1 202 785 0120

Email: dick@psi.org

Population Services International Email: dick@p 1120 19th Street, N.W., Suite 600

Washington, D.C. 20036

USA

Mr Richard Burzynski Tel.: +1 416 921 0018 ext. 15

Executive Director, Central Secretariat Fax: +1 416 921 9979
International Council of AIDS Service Email: richardb@icaso.org

Organizations (ICASO) 65 Wellesley St. E., Suite 403 Toronto, Ontario M4Y 1G7

Canada

Ms Lene Fretheim

Young Professional

World Alliance of YMCAs

Tel.: +41 22 849 5100

Fax: +41 22 849 5110

Email: lene@ymca.int

12 Clos Belmont 1208 Geneva

Ms Inger Sofie Nordback

Soroptimist International

8 ch. Du Jura

Tel.: +41 22 776 1138

Fax: +41 22 776 8838

Email: nordback@span.ch

CH-1299 Crans

Ms Jacqueline Galley
Tel.: +41 21 943 5187
Trainee Representative
Fax: +41 21 943 7081

Soroptimist International Email: galley.jacqueline@bluewin.ch

2B Mottex

CH-1807 Blonay

Mr Robert Mills Tel.: +1 780 483 4797
Global Board Member Fax: +1 780 486 6672
The Global Network of People Living Email: machound@shaw.ca

with HIV/AIDS

9851-185 Street, Edmonton, Alberta

Canada

Mr Florian Hubner Tel.: +41 22 700 1501 Director Fax: +41 22 700 1547

Groupe SIDA Genève Email: florian.hubner@groupesida.ch

17 rue Pierre-Fatio CH-1204 Genève Ms Marija Subataite Tel.: +370 5 269 1600 Central and Eastern European Harm Fax: +370 5 261 1489

Reduction Network Email: eurocaso@ceehrn.org

EUROCASO Partnership Office for Eastern Europe

Vilniaus 25-7a Vilnius 2600 Lithuania

Mr Kieran Daly Tel.: +44 1273 718977 Policy Officer Fax: +44 1273 718901

International HIV/AIDS Alliance Email: <u>kdaly@aidsalliance.org</u>

Queensbury House 104-106 Queens Road Brighton BN1 3XF United Kingdom

Mr Jeffrey O'Malley Tel.: +44 1273 718909 Executive Director Fax: +44 1273 718901

The International HIV/AIDS Alliance Email: jomalley@aidsalliance.org

Queensberry House 104-106 Queens Road Brighton, BN1 3XF United Kingdom

Dr Peter Kok Tel.: +31 20 568 8356 Chair Working Group AIDS Email: m.nicolai@kit.nl

Share-net
Mauritskade 63
1090 HA Amsterdam
The Netherlands

Ms María José Vázquez Tel.: +34 934 314 548 Board of Trustees Member Fax: +34 637 551 547

International Community of Women Email: mjvazquez@eresmas.net

living with HIV/AIDS

c/Sants 2-4 08014 Barcelona Spain

Ms Monica Dolan

Secretary to the Caritas Internationalis

AIDS Task Force

Caritas Internationalis/CAFOD

Tel.: +44 20 7326 5650

Fax: +44 20 7274 9630

Email: mdolan@cafod.org.uk

Romero Close, Stockwell Road London SW9 9TY

London SW9 913 United Kingdom

Others - Autres

Dr Purnima Mane Tel: +41 22 791 1754 Chief Fund Portfolio Director & Director Asia Fax: +41 22 791 1701

The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis Email: purnima.mane@theglobalfund.org

and Malaria Centre Casai

Avenue Louis Casai, no. 53 CH-1216 Cointrin-Geneva

Dr Yoshiko Saito Tel.: +41 22 791 1726 Fund Portfolio Director, East Asia, Fax: +41 22 791 1717

South East Asia and Oceania Email: yoshiko.saito@theglobalfund.org

The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria
Centre Casai

Avenue Louis Casai, no. 53 CH-1216 Cointrin-Geneva

Dr Nafis Sadik

Special Envoy of the UN Secretary General
for HIV/AIDS in Asia

Tel.: +1 212 826 5025

Fax: +1 212 758 1529

Email: sadik@unfpa.org

300 East 56th Street, Apt. 9J New York, N.Y. 10022

Mr Serhiy Borschevsky

Tel.: +375 17 222 3926

Vice-Director of Department

CIS Executive Committee

Tel.: +375 17 222 3926

Fax: +375 17 227 2339

17 Kirov Str. 220050 Minsk Belarus

PCB Working Group on UNAIDS Governance

Ms Jean Perlin

Manager/Researcher

PCB Working Group on UNAIDS Governance

Tel.: +41 22 791 4671

Fax: +41 22 791 4768

Email: perlinj@unaids.org

20 avenue Appia 1211 Geneva